Western SGraduate & Postdoctoral Studies

## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-26-2017 12:00 AM

# The Role of Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element Binding Protein -2 (CPEB-2) in Human Breast Cancer

Joshua Tordjman The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Peeyush K Lala *The University of Western Ontario* 

Graduate Program in Anatomy and Cell Biology A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Master of Science © Joshua Tordjman 2017

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Cancer Biology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Tordjman, Joshua, "The Role of Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element Binding Protein -2 (CPEB-2) in Human Breast Cancer" (2017). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 4622. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/4622

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

### Abstract

Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) is overexpressed in 40-50% of breast cancers, and promotes tumour progression through increased proliferation, migration, invasion, Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT), and induction of therapy-resistant Stem-Like-Cells (SLCs). COX-2 stimulates expression of two oncogenic and SLC-promoting microRNAs (miR-526b, miR-655), which simultaneously target one gene, Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element Binding Protein-2 (CPEB-2). **Hypothesis:** CPEB-2 is a tumour- and SLC-suppressing gene in breast cancer. **Results:** CPEB-2 knockout in a non-tumourigenic mammary epithelial cell line MCF10A demonstrated increases in proliferation, migration, invasion, EMT markers, SLC content, and VEGF-D expression. CPEB-2, an mRNA-binding translation-regulating protein, was found to regulate the translation of tumour suppressor p53. When intravenously injected into NOD/SCID/IL2R $\gamma$ -null mice, CPEB2KO cells formed micrometastases in the lung, and after orthotopic injection into the mammary region, they formed tumours in 3/5 mice, including spontaneous lung metastases. Isoform A/E of CPEB-2 was decreased in HER2+ breast cancer samples. **Conclusion:** CPEB-2 is a tumour-suppressing gene in breast cancer.

## Keywords

CPEB-2, COX-2, Breast Cancer, p53, EMT

## Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to show my appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Peeyush K. Lala, who guided me throughout my project, provided continued support throughout the past two years, and taught me the importance of examining the small details. I would also like to thank my supervisory committee members: Dr. Alison Allan, Dr. Trevor Shepherd, and Dr. David Hess for assisting me in my project and providing constructive feedback throughout my Master's project.

I would like to thank Dr. Mousumi Majumder for supporting me and always pushing me to write a manuscript for my project as soon as possible, Mehdi Amiri for his friendship, helping train me and get me acquainted with the lab at the beginning of my project, and Dr. Pinki Nandi for her support and friendship. I would also like to thank Tirthankar Ray, Andrew Deweyert, Fyyaz Siddiqui, Dr. Hess's lab, Dr. Stephen Renaud and his lab, José Torres-Garcia, Hila Jazayeri, Gloria Kim, Julianne Lim, and Casey Chu for all your support and assistance.

Lastly, I must thank my family and friends, without whom I would not have been as successful and who push me everyday to be the best possible person.

Abstract
Acknowledgmentsi
Table of Contentsii
List of Figuresv
List of Appendicesvii
List of Abbreviations
1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Cancer
1.1.1 Stem-Like Cells
1.1.2 Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition
1.2 Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2)
1.2.1 COX-2 and Breast Cancer12
1.3 COX-2-induced microRNAs14
1.4 CPEB Family17
1.4.1 CPEB Family in Cancer17
1.5 CPEB-2
1.5.1 CPEB-2 isoforms
1.6 CPEB-2 and microRNAs23
1.7 CPEB2 Knockdown in our lab24
1.8 Rationale
1.9 Hypothesis
1.10 Objectives
2 MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1 Cell Culture

# **Table of Contents**

	2.	1.1 MCF10A Cell Line 2	8
	2.	1.2 CPEB-2 Knockout 2	8
	2.2	RNA Extraction	9
	2.3	Protein Extraction 2	9
	2.4	Quantitative RT-PCR	0
	2.5	Western Blot	1
	2.6	Immunofluorescence	2
	2.7	Scratch Assay for Cell Migration	3
	2.8	Migration and Invasion Assays using Transwell Chamber	3
	2.9	Tumoursphere Formation Assay	4
	2.10	EdU Flow Cytometry	5
	2.11	Experiments to Evaluate Oncogenicity in Mice	5
	2.12	Immunohistochemistry3	6
	2.8	Statistical Analysis	7
3	RES	SULTS	8
	3.1	CRISPR-mediated CPEB-2 Knockout	9
	3.2	CPEB2KO cells undergo EMT 4	1
	3.3	CPEB2KO increases chemokinesis, migratory rate, and invasion4	6
	3.4	Proliferation increases in CPEB2KO cells 4	9
	3.5	CPEB2KO stimulates SLC phenotype5	1
	3.6	VEGF-D expression is increased in CPEB2KO cells5	5
	3.7	COX-2 and EP4 are upregulated in CPEB2KO cells5	7
	3.8	p53 Translational Regulation5	9
	3.9	Tumour-Forming Ability and Metastatic Capacity	1
	3.10	Expression of CPEB-2 in Human Breast Cancer Tissues	8

4 DISCUSSION AND SUMMARY 70			0
	4.1	Summary of Findings7	1
	4.2	Contributions to Current Field of Research7	3
	4.3	Role of CPEB-2 in proliferation, migration, invasion, EMT, SLC phenotype,	
V	EGF-l	D expression, COX-2/EP4 expression and p53 regulation7	4
	4.4	Role of CPEB-2 in Tumour Suppression <i>in vivo</i> and in human breast cancer 7	9
	4.5	Limitations	1
	4.6	Future Directions	3
	4.7	Conclusions	6
5	RE	FERENCES 8	7
6	API	PENDICES10	1
7	Cur	riculum Vitae	4

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Simplified schematic of COX-mediated physiological and pathophysiological
roles
Figure 2. Simplified schematic of Cyclo-oxygenase (COX) production of prostaglandins
(PGG <sub>2</sub> , PGH <sub>2</sub> ) and eicosanoids (PGE <sub>2</sub> , PGI <sub>2</sub> , and TXA <sub>2</sub> ), as well as their respective
receptors (EP, IP, TP)11
Figure 3. Combined gene and microRNA microarray analysis of MCF-7 cells (COX-2-
negative) overexpressing COX-2 compared to mock-transfected MCF-7 cells (control).
Figure 4. MCF10A CPEB-2 knockout through a double nickase CRISPR plasmid 40
Figure 5. Mesenchymal morphology of CPEB2KO MCF10A cells
Figure 6. Quantitative RT-PCR for EMT markers showing EMT in CPEB2KO cells at
the mRNA level
Figure 7. Western Blot showing induction of EMT in CPEB2KO cells at the protein
level
Figure 8. CPEB2KO induced EMT visualized through immunofluorescence of markers.
Figure 9. CPEB2KO cells migrated faster than w1 cells in a Scratch Assay over 72 hours
Figure 10. CPEB2KO cells exhibited increased migration and invasion in Transwell
Assays
Figure 11. CPEB2KO cells exhibited increased proliferation after 24 hours measured
using flow cytometry (Click-iT EdU Alexa Fluor 488 Imaging Kit)

Figure 12. Increased tumoursphere formation efficiency and size in CPEB2KO cells
after 4 days
Figure 13. Increased β-catenin pathway signaling in CPEB2KO cells
Figure 14. Increased VEGF-D expression at the mRNA level in CPEB2KO cells 56
Figure 15. COX-2 ( <i>PTGS2</i> ) and EP4 ( <i>PTGER4</i> ) expression is increased in CPEB2KO
cells 58
Figure 16. p53 translational regulation in CPEB2KO cells
Figure 17. Weights of NOD/SCID/IL2Ry-null mice injected intravenously with WT and
CPEB2KO cells
Figure 18. CPEB2KO cells injected intravenously into NOD/SCID/IL2Ry null mice
form micrometastases in the lung
Figure 19. Weights of NOD/SCID/IL2Ry-null mice injected orthotopically with WT and
CPEB2KO cells
Figure 20. CPEB2KO cells injected orthotopically into NOD/SCID/IL2Ry-null mice
form tumours and spontaneously metastasize to the lung
Figure 21. Human breast cancer tissue expression of CPEB-2 isoform A/E normalized
to GAPDH control gene showed decreased expression in HER2+ subset

# List of Appendices

Table 1: Primer sequences and Taqman Probes used in qRT-PCR analysis of mRNA	
expression	
Table 2: NCBI Primer-BLAST search for primers used in Johnson et al.	, 2015 103

# List of Abbreviations

Akt/PKB	Protein Kinase B
ALDH	Aldehyde Dehydrogenase
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
BRCA-1	Breast Cancer 1
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
cAMP	cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate
CCND1	Cyclin D1
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CDH1	E-cadherin
CDH2	N-cadherin
CDK4/6	Cyclin Dependent Kinase 4/6
CLIP	Crosslinking Immunoprecipitation
COX	Cyclo-oxygenase
CPE	Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element
CPEB	Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element Binding Protein
CPEB2KO	CPEB-2 Knockout
CRISPR	Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats
Ct	Threshold Cycle

DAPI	4',6-Diamidino-2-Phenylindole
DCIS	Ductal Carcinoma In Situ
DMEM:F12	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium: Nutrient Supplement F-12
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
E1A	Adenovirus Early Region 1A
EdU	5'-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine
eEF2	Eukaryotic Elongation Factor 2
EGF	Epidermal Growth Factor
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
EMT	Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition
EP	Prostaglandin E Receptor Family
ER	Estrogen Receptor
ERK	Extracellular Signal Regulated Kinases, or MAPK
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
H&E	Hematoxylin & Eosin
HER2	Human Epidermal growth factor Receptor 2
HIF-1α	Hypoxia Inducible Factor 1a
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HS	Horse Serum

HuMEC	Human Mammary Epithelial Cell
IL2RY	Interleukin 2 Receptor Y chain
МАРК	Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase
MCF-7/10A	Michigan Cancer Foundation - 7/10A
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase
M-PER	Mammalian Protein Extraction Reagent
MTX	Methotrexate
NK	Natural Killer
NOD	Non-Obese Diabetic
NPGPx	Non-selenocysteine-containing Phospholipid hydroperoxide Glutathione Peroxidase
NSAIDs	Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs
NSCLC	Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PGE <sub>2</sub>	Prostaglandin E <sub>2</sub>
PGG <sub>2</sub>	Prostaglandin G <sub>2</sub>
PGH <sub>2</sub>	Prostaglandin H <sub>2</sub>
PGI <sub>2</sub>	Prostaglandin I <sub>2</sub> (Prostacyclin)
РІЗК	Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase
РКА	Protein Kinase A
PLC	Phospholipase C

PR	Progesterone Receptor
PTGS	Prostaglandin-endoperoxide Synthase
PVDF	Polyvinulidene Fluoride
qRT-PCR	Quantitative Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction
Rb-1	Retinoblastoma 1
RIP	RNA Immunoprecipitaiton
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RRM	RNA Recognition Motif
SCID	Severe Combined Immune-Deficient
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
sgRNA	Single Guide RNA
siRNA	Small Interfering RNA
SLC	Stem-Like Cells
TBST	Tris Buffered Saline with Tween 20
TN	Triple Negative
TXA <sub>2</sub>	Thromboxane A <sub>2</sub>
UTR	Untranslated Region
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
ZEB1/2	Zinc-finger E-Box-Binding homeobox 1/2

## 1 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Cancer

Cancer is a general term used to describe malignant or aggressive forms of tumours. "Tumour" is an abnormal growth of cells in any of the tissues in the body, caused by mutations in cells. A tumour is called "benign" when the growth is usually slow, and the mass of cells is highly localized and non-invasive. It is curable by surgical resection. It is called "cancer" upon acquiring malignant properties, typically associated with rapid cell division, invasion and metastasis to other parts of the body. Usually multiple mutations lead to the malignant or cancerous phenotype. Most tumours arise by multiple somatic mutations, whereas certain germ-line mutations can cause tumours in the newborn (such as retinoblastoma by mutation of the *Rb-1* gene) or later in life (such as hereditary breast cancer by mutation in the *BRCA-1* gene) (Lynch & Lynch, 1996; Steeg, 1992). Cancer-causing mutations are usually found in three types of genes: protooncogenes, tumour suppressor genes, or DNA repair genes (National Cancer Institute, 2015; Ponz de Leon, 1996). Proto-oncogenes are genes required for normal cell growth and differentiation. One mutation that increases activity of these genes triggers them to become oncogenes and can cause cancer. Tumour suppressor genes are protective genes, usually involved in controlling key cell division processes, and generally require mutations or dysregulation in both copies to cause cancer. DNA repair genes help repair DNA damage caused by the environmental insults (UV radiation, chemicals, etc.) and so if this mechanism is disrupted or altered, mutations will occur more frequently (National Cancer Institute, 2016). Cells that become cancerous acquire a number of characteristics termed the "hallmarks of cancer": unlimited replicative ability, resistance to apoptosis, self-sufficiency in growth signals, reduced response to antigrowth signals, ability for

invasion and metastasis, and sustained angiogenesis (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). Two additional hallmarks were added later on: ability for reprogramming of energy metabolism and evading immune destruction (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

Cancers can be broadly subdivided into several classes: "carcinomas" are those arising in epithelial tissues; "sarcomas" are those arising from connective tissues; "leukaemias" are cancers arising from white blood cells; and lymphomas are solid tumours of lymphocytes. Breast cancer, or mammary carcinoma, can arise in the ductal epithelium (ductal carcinoma) or lobular epithelium (lobular carcinoma). It can also be mixed ductal-lobular. Unfortunately, 1 in 9 women will develop breast cancer in their lifetime, with 1 in 30 women succumbing to the disease. Over 25% of cancers diagnosed in women are of the breast origin, making breast cancer the most diagnosed cancer in women (Canadian Cancer Society, 2016). During the development of breast cancer, breast epithelium usually undergoes a change into atypical breast hyperplasia, followed by a ductal carcinoma *in situ* (DCIS) in which cancer cells are still limited by the basement membrane (Rivenbark, O'Connor, & Coleman, 2013). Ductal carcinomas, as opposed to lobular carcinomas, are the most common type of breast cancer (Canadian Cancer Society, 2016). Low grade ductal carcinomas, when non-invasive (e.g., DCIS) are usually not life-threatening (Rivenbark et al., 2013). High grade ductal carcinomas are more invasive, faster growing and can subsequently lead to metastatic breast cancer (Allegra et al., 2010).

Breast cancers are typically classified by the protein receptor biomarkers that they express, such as Estrogen Receptor (ER+), Progesterone Receptor (PR+), or Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2+) or triple negative (TN) for all three

receptors (Patani, Martin, & Dowsett, 2013). ER+ breast cancers represent approximately 70% of total breast tumours (Anderson, Chatterjee, Ershler, & Brawley, 2002), and are usually co-expressed with PR. HER2+ breast cancers represent approximately 12-22% of breast cancer cases (Prat & Perou, 2011), and are usually more aggressive than ER+/PR+ tumours (Slamon et al., 1987). The triple negative class represents the most aggressive type of breast cancer (Prat & Perou, 2011). Gene expression profiling using cDNA microarrays to correlate tumour characteristics with clinical outcome (Sorlie et al., 2001) led to a further refinement of the classification: Luminal A, Luminal B, HER2+, Basallike, and Claudin-low (Rivenbark et al., 2013; Weigelt et al., 2010). Luminal A and Luminal B are both ER+ breast cancers, with Luminal B exhibiting co-expression of ER and HER2 (Sorlie et al., 2001). HER2+ breast cancers are generally ER and PR negative, and can be selectively targeted using the HER-2 blocking agent Trastuzumab (Herceptin) (Rivenbark et al., 2013). TN breast cancers are divided into Basal-like and Claudin-low subtypes. Basal-like tumours are highly aggressive, proliferative, and express genes from the breast myoepithelium, whereas Claudin-low tumours usually express Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition markers and Stem-Like-Cell features (Rivenbark et al., 2013).

Genomic profiling for breast cancer patients is a common technique used to assess risk for metastasis and clinical outcomes in patients (Espinosa et al., 2011; Paik, 2011). Two current commercially available kits being used in the clinic are called the Oncotype Dx (Genomic Health, Inc, CA) and Mammaprint (Agendia, Irvine, CA), which both function through qRT-PCR analysis of tumour RNA expression of 21 or 70 genes, respectively (Turaga, Acs, & Laronga, 2010). These allow physicians to make personalized recommendations for the type of chemotherapy or a combination of therapies. They also provide further prognostic information such as a 'recurrence score' that predicts risk of recurrence (Rivenbark et al., 2013; Turaga et al., 2010). Due to the heterogeneity of human breast cancers, determining personalized gene profiles should ultimately reduce amount of unnecessary chemotherapies, and long-term side effects (Turaga et al., 2010). Compiling a list of genes that need to be included in examination of genetic signatures will be an important step in this process (Espinosa et al., 2011). However, currently these approaches are costly and have yet to live up to expectations (Arango, Rivera, & Glück, 2013).

#### 1.1.1 Stem-Like-Cells

A subset of tumour cells called Stem-Like Cells (SLCs) are believed to perpetuate tumour growth and contribute to resistance to traditional chemotherapeutic drugs and radiation therapies (Reya, Morrison, Clarke, & Weissman, 2001). SLCs were first discovered in acute myeloid leukemia through serial transplantation of cells in limiting numbers into Severe Combined Immune-Deficient (SCID) mice. These cells (1 in 250,000) expressed CD34+ (stem/progenitor cell surface marker) CD38- (lineage commitment marker) and were able to successfully form multiple colonies in the bone marrow of these mice (Lapidot et al., 1994). In breast cancer, it was first discovered that cells bearing CD44+/CD24- surface markers were highly tumourigenic in immunodeficient mice, requiring as few as 100 cells isolated from patient tumours (Al-Hajj, Wicha, Benito-Hernandez, Morrison, & Clarke, 2003). More recently, the Aldehyde Dehydrogenase 1 (ALDH1) enzyme was used to identify stem cell properties within heterogeneous tumour cell populations, correlating with ability for self-renewal, poor prognosis, and ability to recapitulate the original tumour heterogeneity (Ginestier et al., 2007). A combination of ALDH-high expressing cells and CD44+/CD24- markers, although representing less than 1% of total tumour cell population, were able to form tumours with as few as 20 cells (Ginestier et al., 2007). Croker et al. demonstrated that ALDH-high/CD44+/CD24- cells as well as ALDH-high/CD44+/CD133+ cells, isolated from a number of human breast cancer cell lines had SLC properties and enhanced tumourigenic and metastatic ability in NOD/SCID/IL2RY-null mice (Croker et al., 2009). Using immunohistology, the CD44+/CD24- phenotype in patients' primary tumours was found to be more associated with therapy resistance and poor outcome compared to the ALDH-1 phenotype (Horimoto et al., 2016).

Amongst many regulatory pathways of SLC induction and maintenance, the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway was shown to govern the transcription of genes involved in proliferation, self-renewal and motility (Jang et al., 2015; Paul & Dey, 2008; Polakis, 2000).  $\beta$ -catenin is the key effector molecule in this pathway, with the ability to induce transcription of *CCND1*, *AXIN1*, *AXIN2*, and *Myc* genes, among others (Clevers, 2006; Polakis, 2000). ALDH positive cells showed significantly higher expression of  $\beta$ -catenin signaling (Jang et al., 2015). Blockage of this pathway has been shown to reduce tumour cell proliferation, migration, invasion, and tumour growth and metastasis *in vivo* (Jang et al., 2015).

HER2+ tumours were reported to be rich in SLCs. Clinically, these tumours are usually responsive to the specific HER-2 blocking drug Herceptin, but when

CD44+/CD24- HER2+ cells are enriched, they exhibited significant resistance to this agent (Oliveras-Ferraros et al., 2012). In an examination of different breast cancer cell lines, treatment with paclitaxel or 5'fluorouracil demonstrated a significant increase in enrichment of SLCs in the surviving population (Fillmore & Kuperwasser, 2008). Due to the persistence of SLCs after traditional chemotherapies or radiation therapies, mechanisms that increase the formation of these cells are important to investigate.

#### 1.1.2 Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition

Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) is a biological process that causes polar epithelial cells to undergo a change into an elongated nonpolar mesenchymal phenotype (Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009). This phenotype is usually associated with an acquisition of mesenchymal cell markers, increase in migratory ability, cell survival, and invasiveness (Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009). E-cadherin, an epithelial cell junction protein, is one of the main epithelial markers that is lost during EMT (Kourtidis, Lu, Pence, & Anastasiadis, 2017). E-cadherin is responsible for mediating cell-cell adhesions, allowing for cell contact inhibition and control of cell proliferation (N.-G. Kim, Koh, Chen, & Gumbiner, 2011). Although reduced E-cadherin is an essential marker for EMT, loss of E-cadherin alone is not adequate for EMT, and therefore other markers must be assessed (A. Chen et al., 2014). "Cadherin switching" is a process by which expression of Ecadherin is exchanged for other cadherins, such as N-cadherin or P-cadherin (Wheelock, Shintani, Maeda, Fukumoto, & Johnson, 2008). N-cadherin, a mesenchymal celladhesion molecule, when ectopically overexpressed in breast cancer cell line MCF-7, increased migratory ability, invasiveness through upregulation of MMP-9, and metastasis (Hazan, Phillips, Qiao, Norton, & Aaronson, 2000). Vimentin, another mesenchymal marker, is an intermediate filament responsible for increasing a cell's ability to directionally migrate, maintains homeostasis within transitioning cells, and has the ability to regulate EMT-associated transcription factors such as SNAI2 (Liu, Lin, Tang, & Wang, 2015). E-cadherin expression is downregulated by multiple mesenchymal transcription factors, including SNAI1, SNAI2, ZEB1, ZEB2 and Twist (Oliveras-Ferraros et al., 2012; Smit & Peeper, 2010; Zhou et al., 2017). These transcription factors, individually or in combination with each other, have been shown to drive EMT. Cells that have undergone EMT, like SLCs, are also resistant to traditional chemotherapeutic therapies (Oliveras-Ferraros et al., 2012). In epithelial cancers, the ability of the cancer cells to undergo this transition is crucial for their ability to metastasize (Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009).

#### 1.2 Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2)

Cyclooxygenase (COX) or prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase (PTGS) family of enzymes include three members COX-1, COX-2 and COX-3. COX-3 is an isoform of COX-1 produced by alternative splicing of the *PTGS-1* gene, not present in the human (Simmons, Botting, & Hla, 2004). COX-1 is constitutively expressed by most cells to mediate many physiological functions. COX-2 or PTGS-2 is a constitutive enzyme only in a small minority of cells such as macrophages and cells in reproductive organs such as decidual cells in the pregnant uterus (Williams, Mann, & DuBois, 1999) (Figure 1). Typically, it is an inflammation-associated enzyme induced by inflammatory cytokines, mitogens and certain carcinogens. COX-1 and to a smaller extent COX-2 have physiological roles in hemostasis, gastric and renal function, development of T-cells, cardiovascular development, ovulation and implantation (Simmons et al., 2004). COX enzymes mediate the production of various prostanoids, most importantly prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (PGE<sub>2</sub>) from arachidonic acid (Howe, 2007). Arachidonic acid (unsaturated fatty acid) is freed from the plasma membrane by phospholipase enzymes (Williams et al., 1999). Free arachidonic acid is then converted by COX-2 into Prostaglandin G<sub>2</sub>, and subsequently into Prostaglandin H<sub>2</sub>. Prostaglandin H<sub>2</sub> can then be converted into Eicosanoids, such as cardioprotective molecule prostacyclin (PGI<sub>2</sub>), Thromboxane A<sub>2</sub> or PGE<sub>2</sub> (Howe, 2007; Williams et al., 1999) (Figure 2). PGE<sub>2</sub> production via COX-1 pathway is steady and at low concentrations. COX-2-mediated PGE<sub>2</sub> production during inflammation occurs at high local concentrations and stops after withdrawal of the inflammatory stimulus. However, aberrant COX-2 activity that occurs in some cancers leads to persistent PGE<sub>2</sub> production (Williams et al., 1999). PGE<sub>2</sub> can bind to the prostaglandin E receptor (EP) family, which is made up of 4 G protein coupled receptors (EP1-4) (Fujino, Xu, & Regan, 2003). EP1 couples with Gq, activating PLC and a rise in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ , while EP2 and EP4 couple with G<sub>s</sub>, stimulating cAMP/PKA pathway (Breyer, Bagdassarian, Myers, & Breyer, 2001). Additionally, EP4 also stimulates noncanonical pathways PI3K/Akt and ERK, promoting cell survival and migration; and most EP3 isoforms couple with G<sub>i</sub>, inhibiting cAMP (Fujino et al., 2003).



#### Figure 1. Simplified schematic of COX-mediated physiological and

**pathophysiological roles.** COX-mediated prostaglandin (PG) synthesis from arachidonic acid, physiological and pathophysiological effects throughout the body, along with inhibition targets. Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs) and Indomethacin non-selectively inhibit both COX-1 and COX-2. Adapted from (Zarghi & Arfaei, 2011).



Figure 2. Simplified schematic of Cyclo-oxygenase (COX) production of Prostaglandins (PGG<sub>2</sub>, PGH<sub>2</sub>) and Eicosanoids (PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGI<sub>2</sub>, and TXA<sub>2</sub>), as well as their respective receptors (EP, IP, TP). Adapted from (Hull, Ko, & Hawcroft, 2004).

#### 1.2.1 COX-2 and Breast Cancer

Aberrant COX-2 expression has been found in many epithelial cancers including cancer of the colon, oropharynx, lungs, prostate, pancreas and the breast leading to disease progression (Harris, 2003). Elevated COX-2 expression, noted in 40-50% of breast cancer patients, is an indicator of poor prognosis (Ristimäki et al., 2002). In human breast cancer, COX-2 expression was shown to be localized primarily to the tumour epithelium in breast cancer samples, and extensively linked to tumour progression (Howe, 2007). A series of studies in our lab have established that COX-2 expression leading to high  $PGE_2$  levels in the tumour milieu promotes breast cancer progression by multiple mechanisms: an inactivation of host anti-tumour innate immune cells (Lala, Parhar, & Singh, 1986), enhanced cancer cell migration and invasiveness (Rozic, Chakraborty, & Lala, 2001; Timoshenko, Xu, Chakrabarti, Lala, & Chakraborty, 2003), tumour-associated angiogenesis (Rozic et al., 2001; Xin et al., 2012), and tumourassociated lymphangiogenesis resulting from upregulation of VEGF-C and VEGF-D production (Timoshenko, Chakraborty, Wagner, & Lala, 2006). These events resulted primarily by activation of the PGE<sub>2</sub> receptor EP4 on tumour and host cells. In a syngeneic mouse model, our lab discovered that inhibition of COX-2 or EP4 reduced tumour size, proliferation, migration, expression of VEGF-C and VEGF-D, and tumour-associated angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis (Majumder, Xin, Liu, Girish, & Lala, 2014; Rozic et al., 2001; Timoshenko et al., 2003; Xin et al., 2012). Within the tumour are a group of immune cells called tumour-associated macrophages, and when treated with an EP4 antagonist, these immune cells significantly reduced the production of lymphangiogenic factors VEGF-C and VEGF-D (Majumder et al., 2014).

COX-2 expression in breast cancer has been correlated with increased size, grade, distant metastasis as well as poor survival (Ristimäki et al., 2002; Singh-Ranger, Salhab, & Mokbel, 2008). Furthermore, HER-2 expressing tumours significantly co-express COX-2, however COX-2 expression was not limited to HER-2+ tumours, as it was overexpressed in TN tumours as well (Bhattacharjee, Timoshenko, Cai, & Lala, 2010; Ristimäki et al., 2002). Our lab examined the consequences of COX-2 overexpression in the presence or absence of HER2 overexpression (Majumder et al., 2016). Through stable transfection of *COX-2* into non-metastatic human breast cancer cell lines MCF-7 (COX-2–, HER-2–) and SKBR3 (COX-2–, HER-2+), it was shown that irrespective of HER2 expression, COX-2 promotes proliferation, migration, invasiveness, an upregulation of VEGF-C and VEGF-D, as well as an EMT phenotype. Furthermore, it induces SLC phenotype tested *in vitro* and *in vivo* through upregulation of Notch/Wnt pathways (Majumder et al., 2016).

The effects of COX-1/COX-2 inhibition with a nonselective COX inhibitor, indomethacin, was previously examined by our lab in a spontaneous tumour-forming mouse model of retired breeder female C3H/HeJ mice. COX inhibition was shown to delay tumour formation, significantly increase life span of these mice, reduce lung metastases, increase tumour cell death and increase immune cell infiltration into the tumour (Lala, Al-Mutter, & Orucevic, 1997). Furthermore, COX inhibition succeeded in abrogating PGE<sub>2</sub>-mediated inactivation of NK cells in tumour bearing mice, restoring NK cell activity (Lala et al., 1986). However, prolonged use of both COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitors were found to produce cardiovascular side effects (FitzGerald & Patrono, 2001). This has been attributed to COX-mediated inhibition of PGI<sub>2</sub> production, a cardioprotective molecule (Cathcart et al., 2008), and therefore alternative downstream target molecules that can spare this side effect needed to be investigated.

Our lab identified EP4 as an ideal alternative therapeutic target for three reasons: (1) Most of the mechanisms underlying COX-2-mediated breast cancer progression resulted from EP4 activation (Majumder et al., 2014; Xin et al., 2012); (2) Most physiological functions of EP4 are shared by EP2 through PKA-mediated signaling pathway, whereas tumour cell survival and migration depend on EP4-mediated activation of PI3K/Akt and MAPK pathways not shared with EP2 (Fujino et al., 2003); (3) PGI<sub>2</sub> does not bind to EP4 and thus EP4 antagonists should spare the cardiovascular side effects of COX-2 inhibition. The potential of EP4 as therapeutic target was validated in murine syngeneic COX-2 over-expressing breast cancer, while allowing for blockade of COX-2 or PGE<sub>2</sub>-mediated oncogenic effects (Majumder et al., 2014; Xin et al., 2012). Treating breast cancer cells with selective EP4 antagonists reduced *in vitro* oncogenic phenotypes (proliferation, migration, invasion, angiogenic and lymphangiogenic factor production) as well as treating syngeneic breast cancer-bearing mice with the same inhibitors abrogated tumour growth and metastases *in vivo* (Majumder et al., 2014; Xin et al., 2012; S. Xu et al., 2014). Currently, the use of EP4 antagonists as an adjunctive therapy remains to be explored in clinical trials.

#### 1.3 COX-2-induced microRNAs

MicroRNAs are small RNA molecules, usually between 19 and 24 nucleotides, that can regulate translation of target mRNA molecules either by degrading the mRNA or blocking translation through direct binding (Sassen, Miska, & Caldas, 2008). Over half of the microRNAs in the human genome are located in cancer-associated regions, and some of them can function either as tumour suppressors or oncogenes (Calin et al., 2004; Macfarlane & Murphy, 2010; Sassen et al., 2008). MicroRNAs can be secreted by cells into the blood stream or body fluids via packaging and exocytosis in vesicles called exosomes that protect them from RNase degradation (Mathivanan, Ji, & Simpson, 2010). Thus, some microRNAs may be promising cancer biomarkers. MicroRNA signature screening is a tool being investigated as an adjunct to the traditional mammography to diagnose breast cancer and metastases (Freres et al., 2016). Screening for 8 microRNAs in a cohort of 108 women proved to accurately identify metastatic cancer within these patients (Freres et al., 2016). These small molecules have been implicated in regulating many types of cancer including breast cancer, and can be used as novel cancer biomarkers in patient diagnosis (Sassen, Miska, and Caldas, 2008).

Our lab performed a combined gene and microRNA microarray analysis of COX-2 transfected MCF-7 cells (COX-2 negative) (Figure 3). Through this, they identified 26 genes that were downregulated and two microRNAs, microRNA-526b and microRNA-655, that were upregulated by COX-2 (Dunn & Lala, 2013; Majumder, Landman, Liu, Hess, & Lala, 2015). Both of these microRNAs have been shown by our lab to be oncogenic and SLC-promoting (Majumder et al., 2015). An overexpression of these microRNAs in poorly metastatic breast cancer cell lines MCF-7 and SKBR3 increased *in vitro* oncogenic and SLC phenotypes, as well as *in vivo* tumour formation (Dunn & Lala, 2013; Majumder et al., 2015). Of the 26 genes downregulated by COX-2, these microRNAs collectively targeted 13 of them, 12 of which were tumour-suppressor-like genes (ex. *TP53*, *CDK6*, etc.). The last gene is the only common target of both microRNAs, named Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element Binding Protein (CPEB) -2.



**Figure 3.** Combined gene and microRNA microarray analysis of MCF-7 cells (originally COX-2-negative) transfected to overexpress COX-2 compared to mocktransfected MCF-7 cells (control). Gene (left) and microRNA (right) microarray results, and in the middle are the collective 13 gene targets of the 2 microRNAs out of the 26 genes downregulated by COX-2. CPEB-2 was the only common gene target of both microRNAs.

#### 1.4 CPEB Family

The CPEB family of proteins are made up of 4 members (CPEB1-4) (Fernández-Miranda & Méndez, 2012). This family harbours the ability to bind to the 3' UTR of mRNA molecules, specifically a domain called the Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element (CPE) (Fernández-Miranda & Méndez, 2012). Some mRNA targets require two CPE sequences, which must be less than 50 nucleotides apart in order to be translationally regulated by CPEB proteins (Piqué, López, Foissac, Guigó, & Méndez, 2008). To affect polyadenylation in their target mRNA molecules, there must be both a CPE sequence (UUUUUAAU) and a polyadenylation hexanucleotide signal (AAUAAA) (Paris & Richter, 1990). CPEB proteins can repress or activate translation of their target mRNA molecules by shortening or elongating the poly-A tail, respectively (Wakiyama, Imataka, & Sonenberg, 2000).

#### 1.4.1 CPEB Family and Cancer

Because these proteins regulate the translation of a wide variety of genes, many groups have investigated their relationship with cancer (Y. Chen, Tsai, & Tseng, 2016; Fernández-Miranda & Méndez, 2012). CPEB-1, the most ubiquitously expressed member of the family, is known to suppress multiple cancer-promoting molecules, including TWIST1 (Grudzien-Nogalska, Reed, & Rhoads, 2014; Nairismägi et al., 2012), HIF1 $\alpha$ (Hägele, Kühn, Böning, & Katschinski, 2009), and  $\beta$ -catenin (Jones et al., 2008), while increasing tumour-suppressor molecules such as p53 (Burns & Richter, 2008). CPEB-1 also suppresses EMT in mammary epithelial cells (Grudzien-Nogalska et al., 2014; Nagaoka et al., 2015), and when knocked down was reported to increase breast cancer metastasis to the lung (Nagaoka et al., 2015). CPEB-1 has been reported to be decreased in many forms of cancer, including breast and ovarian cancers (Fernández-Miranda & Méndez, 2012; Giangarrà, Igea, Castellazzi, Bava, & Mendez, 2015).

As will be reviewed later and will be the focus of studies herein, the roles of CPEB-2 in breast or other cancers remain poorly defined (Chen et al., 2016). The Cancer Genome Atlas data on CPEB-2 in breast cancer reported conflicting results (D'Ambrogio, Nagaoka, & Richter, 2013), and therefore deserves further examination.

CPEB-3 expression was shown to be lower in different cancer types, including a report that CPEB-3 is targeted by microRNA-107 in hepatocellular carcinoma (Zou, Zhao, Wang, Li, & Huang, 2016). It was also shown that an isoform of CPEB-3, one that cannot be phosphorylated due to splicing out of the encoded phosphorylation region, was overexpressed in high-grade glioma samples and correlated with poor patient survival (Skubal et al., 2016).

Findings with CPEB-4 remain conflicting. CPEB-4 was recently reported to be increased in human breast cancer patients (Sun et al., 2015), among other cancers (Fernández-Miranda & Méndez, 2012). CPEB-4 has been found to be overexpressed in pancreatic adenocarcinomas and glioblastomas as well, promoting tumour growth, angiogenesis and invasion (Ortiz-Zapater et al., 2012). CPEB-4 is a direct target of microRNA-203, a tumour-suppressive microRNA, and when CPEB-4 was downregulated in colorectal cancer cell lines, apoptotic markers were increased (Zhong et al., 2015). On the other hand, another group reported that microRNA-1246 promotes migration, invasion, and metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), by downregulating CPEB-4 expression (Huang, Li, & Luo, 2015). Furthermore, decreased CPEB-4

expression correlated with poor survival in NSCLC (Huang et al., 2015). Additionally, microRNA-550a was shown to promote migration and invasion in hepatocellular carcinoma by targeting the 3' UTR of CPEB-4 (Tian et al., 2012). CPEB-4 was significantly downregulated in hepatocellular carcinoma samples, and this was significantly associated with poor patient outcome (Tian et al., 2012). The contrasting results listed above may have been due to different CPEB-4 splice variants.

Due to the involvement of CPEB proteins in cancer, therapies using CPEB proteins or CPE sequences may be useful in certain cancer types. Viral therapies, including oncolytic viruses, are currently being designed to specifically target tumour cells, therefore an examination of tumour-specific regulation of protein expression has been crucial in developing potential targets (Miest & Cattaneo, 2014). Adenoviruses were designed to include CPE regulatory elements for a control gene E1A to be post-transcriptionally regulated. This inclusion in the oncolytic virus allowed for increased tumour specificity in CPEB4-overexpressing tumours and decreased non-specific toxicity *in vivo* (Villanueva et al., 2017). Similarly, since CPEB4 has been shown to be increased in certain tumours (Sun et al., 2015; H. Xu & Liu, 2013), attempts have been made to exploit the CPEB4 protein as a tumour antigen for immunotherapy (Peng et al., 2014). Dendritic cells transduced with an adenovirus expressing CPEB-4 were successfully able to reduce tumour size *in vivo* through stimulation of cytotoxic T cells and increase the release of interferon-gamma by T cells in mice (Peng et al., 2014).

#### 1.5 CPEB-2

CPEB-2 was first sequenced after being discovered in the cytoplasm of mouse haploid germ cells (Kurihara, 2003). Like CPEB-1, within CPEB-2 are two RNA Recognition Motifs (RRMs), as well as a Zinc-finger motif that collectively allow CPEB-2 to bind to poly-U regions like the CPE (Kurihara, 2003). As reviewed below, CPEB-2 can have multiple functions, including a role in tumourigenesis.

A known target of the *CPEB-2* gene is Hypoxia Inducible Factor  $-1\alpha$  (HIF1 $\alpha$ ) (Hägele et al., 2009), a tumour-promoting molecule. HIF1 $\alpha$  is a transcription factor that has a fairly short half life under normoxic conditions, but is stabilized under hypoxic conditions to stimulate genes involved in angiogenesis, EMT, migration, SLC maintenance, metastasis and therapeutic resistance (Ajdukovic, 2016). Under normoxic conditions, *CPEB-2* is known to suppress the translation of HIF1 $\alpha$  mRNA (Hägele et al., 2009). Specifically, the elongation phase of translation is interrupted by CPEB-2 interacting with eukaryotic elongation factor -2 (eEF2) (Chen & Huang, 2012). Subsequently, this group (Chen et al., 2015) identified an oxidative stress sensor molecule known as Non-selenocysteine-containing Phospholipid hydroperoxide Glutathione Peroxidase (NPGPx) that forms a disulfide bond with CPEB-2 in normoxic conditions, resulting in an inhibition of HIF1 $\alpha$  translation. However, under hypoxic conditions, the disulfide bond is disrupted, leading to dissociation of CPEB-2 from HIF1 $\alpha$  mRNA and subsequent translation.

Another reported target of CPEB-2 is the highly conserved transcription factor TWIST1. TWIST1 is known to promote EMT (Nairismägi et al., 2012). The TWIST1 3' UTR contains a CPE domain, allowing CPEB-2 to interact and downregulate mRNA translation of this gene (Nairismägi et al., 2012), thus suggesting CPEB-2 as a suppressor of EMT. TWIST1 is also an important molecule in promoting the SLC phenotype, as it increases expression of the molecule  $\beta$ -catenin, a key effector in the Wnt signaling pathway.  $\beta$ -catenin has two major functions that it regulates via gene transcription: proliferation and motility (Paul & Dey, 2008), both of which are important in tumourigenesis.

Another report (Giangarrà et al., 2015) analyzed the family of CPEB proteins, and their functions in the mitotic cell cycle through knockdown of each family member. When CPEB-1 was knocked down, cell lines were arrested in prophase; CPEB-4knockdown cells were found to have difficulty in cytokinesis during telophase. However, CPEB-3 was not found to be involved in mitotic cell cycling (Giangarrà et al., 2015). Importantly, when CPEB-2 was knocked down, cells were found to be arrested at metaphase, with unaligned metaphase plates and therefore could not progress past this metaphase-to-anaphase checkpoint (Giangarrà et al., 2015).

It was recently reported that CPEB-2 plays a vital role in respiratory function (Lai et al., 2016). CPEB-2 knockout mice were generated using a cre-loxP system injected into blastocysts by targeting exons 3-5 and achieving germline transmission. These mice were then crossed with mice bearing various specific cre promoters to achieve conditional or global knockouts. Although these CPEB2 knockout mice were initially born alive, most of them died within 3 days postnatally, suggesting an important physiological role (Lai et al., 2016). Respiratory function was significantly impaired in

these neonates due to hyperactive parasympathetic signaling from the brainstem, thereby creating severe bronchoconstriction in the pups (Lai et al., 2016). This paper demonstrated a significant role of CPEB-2 *in vivo* in postnatal survival.

#### 1.5.1 CPEB-2 Isoforms

Splicing is a post-transcriptional modification where a premature form of the mRNA (heteronuclear RNA) becomes alternatively processed to produce the mature mRNA molecule (Modrek & Lee, 2002). The products of alternative splicing events are different isoforms/variants of the protein that may include or exclude different introns and exons, and therefore can significantly affect protein function (Modrek & Lee, 2002). NCBI genome data reported that CPEB-2 has 6 isoforms (A-F).

Johnson et al., 2015 reported that alternate splicing of CPEB-2 plays a role in breast cancer, specifically with anoikis-resistance. *In vitro*, anoikis is a form of cellular apoptosis whereby anchorage-dependent cells detach from the ECM to undergo cell death. Therefore, anoikis-resistance is the process where cells become desensitized to this anchorage-dependence, detach from the ECM and continue surviving (Johnson et al., 2015). The cells become more motile and can metastasize more easily. It was reported that an increase in the ratio of two CPEB-2 isoforms, B (inclusion of exon 4) to A (exclusion of exon 4), induced anoikis-resistance in breast cancer cells (Johnson et al., 2015). These authors overexpressed either isoform A or isoform B in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells and injected them into severely immunodeficient mice, demonstrating a decrease in tumour volume with CPEB2A overexpression and an increase in tumour volume with CPEB2B overexpression. Therefore, isoform B of CPEB-2 appears to be oncogenic in nature, whereas isoform A appears to be tumour-suppressor-like in nature (Johnson et al., 2015). However, due to the high similarity between CPEB-2 isoforms, we examined the specific sequences that were used in this study. A closer examination of their primer sequences using NCBI Primer Blast matched their CPEB2 isoform A primers with the whole CPEB-2 gene sequence, and their CPEB-2 isoform B primer sequence matched with both isoform B and D (Table 2). Therefore, further isoform-specific examination is still needed to investigate the role of CPEB-2 in breast cancer.

#### 1.6 CPEB-2 and MicroRNAs

Recently, several reports have shown a relationship between microRNAs, CPEB-2 and cancer. One paper demonstrated that overexpression of microRNA-885-5p mediates EMT, increased migration, invasion, stress fiber formation as well as *in vivo* tumour formation and metastasis in colon cancer (Lam et al., 2017). This microRNA was also found to bind to CPEB-2 and downregulate translation, leading to TWIST1 upregulation (Lam et al., 2017). Another group (C. Li, Gao, Li, & Ding, 2017) suggested that a long non-coding RNA TUG1 mediates methotrexate (MTX) resistance in colorectal cancer via microRNA-186/CPEB-2 axis. They reported that TUG-1 is overexpressed in methotrexate resistant colon cancer and that TUG-1 knockdown resensitized colorectal cancer cells to MTX. Bioinformatics analysis showed that miR-186, a CPEB2-targeting microRNA, could directly bind to TUG1, suggesting TUG1 might have worked by sponging microRNA-186. However, a direct role of microRNA-186 or
CPEB-2 in methotrexate resistance, was not established (C. Li et al., 2017). Similarly, it was reported that another long non-coding RNA, CCAT1, was overexpressed in Paclitaxel-resistant nasopharyngeal cancers (Wang, Zhang, & Hao, 2017). These authors also showed that knocking down CCAT1 increased sensitivity to Paclitaxel through sponging microRNA-181a in nasopharyngeal cancer cells. This microRNA also suppressed CPEB-2 expression, however again it was not shown whether overexpression of CPEB-2 mediated Paclitaxel resistance, or whether CPEB-2 expression was dysregulated by Paclitaxel treatment (Wang et al., 2017).

#### 1.7 CPEB-2 Knockdown In Our Lab

Previous work in our lab (Asma Hasan MSc Thesis 2015) used a number of COX-2 disparate human breast cancer cell lines showing a positive correlation of COX-2 with the expression of microRNAs -526b and -655, and a negative correlation of CPEB-2 expression with COX-2 or either microRNA. These relationships indicated a tumour suppressor role of CPEB-2, knowing that COX-2 and both microRNAs were oncogenic. She examined the consequences of transient siRNA-mediated knockdown of CPEB-2 in poorly metastatic and high CPEB2 expressing breast cancer cell line MCF-7 on *in vitro* functions associated with a malignant phenotype. She found that MCF-7-CPEB2 knockdown cells had an increase in migration, invasion, tumoursphere forming efficiency (*in vitro* surrogate of SLC phenotype) and a partial acquisition of EMT phenotype, indicating a role of CPEB-2 as a tumour suppressor gene. Dr. Mousumi Majumder (unpublished), a post-doctoral fellow in our lab, showed that pharmacological inhibition of COX-2 or EP4 in COX-2 overexpressing MCF-7 (MCF-7-COX-2) cells both significantly increased expression of CPEB-2, indicating an important role of COX-2/EP4 signaling pathway on CPEB-2 expression. However, to fully elucidate whether this gene is a tumour suppressor, a more robust approach was needed employing a nontumourigenic mammary epithelial cell line, such as MCF10A.

#### 1.8 Rationale

The functions of CPEB-2 still remain largely unclear in breast cancer. Our lab has previously demonstrated the oncogenic and SLC-inducing functions of COX-2, PGE<sub>2</sub>, EP4, microRNA-526b and microRNA-655. These two microRNAs were discovered through overexpression of COX-2 in a poorly metastatic breast cancer cell line MCF-7 and performing a combined gene and microRNA microarray. These microRNAs simultaneously target CPEB-2 (Figure 4), collectively along with 12 other tumoursuppressor-like genes. Therefore, the potential tumour-suppressive role of CPEB-2 in breast cancer requires further evaluation.



**Figure 4. Simplified schematic of COX-2 - mediated upregulation of microRNAs 526b and 655, and collective suppression of CPEB-2 expression.** COX-2 upregulates both microRNAs 526b and 655 to simultaneously suppress expression of CPEB-2 (Majumder et al., 2016, 2015).

#### 1.9 Hypothesis

CPEB-2 is a tumour- and SLC-suppressing gene in human breast cancer.

## 1.10 Objectives

(1) To define the consequences of CPEB-2 knockout in the MCF10A cell line on oncogenic functions tested in vitro.

Tested functions: proliferation, migration, invasion, production of angiogenic factor VEGF-A, lymphangiogenic factors VEGF-C and –D, EMT phenotype and SLC contents.

(2) To define the consequences of CPEB-2 knockout in the MCF10A cell line on oncogenic functions tested in vivo.

Tested functions: Lung colony forming ability upon intravenous injection and orthotopic tumourigenicity and metastasis upon implantation at the mammary sites.

(3) To evaluate the clinical significance of CPEB -2 expression in human breast cancer samples.

Significance: CPEB-2 or its splice variants (isoforms) may be potential tumour and SLCsuppressing markers in breast cancer.

# 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 Cell Culture

For our experiments, we used the non-tumourigenic immortalized mammary epithelial cell line MCF10A (ATCC) (Soule et al., 1990). Complete media for these cells is composed of Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium: Nutrient Mixture F-12 (DMEM:F12) (Gibco) supplemented with 5% Horse Serum (Invitrogen #16050-122), 20ng/ml EGF, 0.5 mg/ml hydrocortisone (Sigma #H-0888), 100ng/ml cholera toxin (Sigma #C-8052), 10 µg/ml insulin (Sigma #I-1882), and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen #15070-063).

#### 2.1.1 MCF10A Cell Line

The MCF10A cell line is an immortalized epithelial non-tumourigenic breast epithelial cell line that is negative for both the estrogen receptor and the progesterone receptor (Subik et al., 2010). This cell line has been reported to be an excellent model for studying oncogenes and tumour suppressors through genetic manipulations in this cell line (Qu et al., 2015). MCF10A cells primarily express the CPEB2 isoform A, with little to no expression of isoform B (Johnson et al., 2015), which we confirmed in our lab.

#### 2.1.2 CPEB-2 Knockout

We knocked out the CPEB-2 gene with a CRISPR/Cas9 double nickase plasmid (Santa Cruz, #sc-409367-NIC) targeting exon 1 of the gene (conserved across all isoforms). The first sgRNA used the sequence 5' GGCGTATGGTCCTTACGCCG 3',

while the second sgRNA used the sequence 5' GGACTGCTACTTCGGAGCG 3'. Using the double nickase CRISPR/Cas9 mutant enables us to ensure a high specificity with full knockout (Ran et al., 2013). Each double nickase mutant nicks the targeted gene as directed by a short guide RNA. Two simultaneous breaks in the gene mimics a double stranded break and successfully knocks out the portion of the targeted gene. Through electroporation, MCF10A cells were transfected with the double nickase CRISPR plasmid using the Amaxa Cell Line Nucleofector Kit IV (Lonza) according to the manufacturer's protocol. These cells were then seeded, subjected to 72 hours of puromycin selection and the surviving cell population was expanded.

#### 2.2 RNA Extraction

Cells were grown to 80-90% confluency in 6 well plates, where total RNA was extracted using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen #74104) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA concentration was quantified using the Epoch Microplate Spectrophotometer (BioTek).

#### 2.3 **Protein Extraction**

Cells were grown to 80-90% confluency in 6 well plates, where a mixture of M-PER (Mammalian Protein Extraction Reagent) (Thermo Fisher), 1x Halt protease inhibitor (Thermo Fisher) and 1x Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail (Sigma) are added for 5 minutes. The mixture was then pipetted up and down 3 times, added to a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube and then sonicated 10 times for 30 seconds total. The microcentrifuge tube was then spun down at 14000 rpm at 4°C for 20 minutes. The resulting supernatant containing the protein was placed in a separate 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube and stored at -80°C.

#### 2.4 Quantitative RT-PCR

cDNA was synthesized from isolated RNA using the High Capacity Reverse Transcription Kit (Thermo Fisher #4368814) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Taqman Universal PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher #4304437) was then used to quantitatively analyze RNA expression (after cDNA synthesis) of the following: *CDH1* (E-cadherin), *VIM* (Vimentin), *SNAI1*, *ZEB1*, *TWIST1*, *PTGS2* (COX-2), *PTGER4* (EP4) and *TP53* (p53). PerfeCTa SyBR Green Fastmix (Quanta Biosciences) was used according to the manufacturer's protocol for qPCR analysis of VEGF-B, -C, and -D, using GAPDH as a loading control (Table 1).

Previous work with human breast cancer tissues was done by Dr. Mousumi Majumder in our lab. We used the same 105 breast cancer samples (Ontario Tumour Bank) along with 20 control breast tissues. Unfortunately, there are no isoform-specific probes, but rather ones that covered a couple of isoforms due to similarity among the isoforms. As highlighted earlier, primers used by Johnson et al., 2015 for CPEB2A covered all 6 isoforms, while primers for CPEB2B covered both isoforms B and D. Therefore, we examined human breast cancer tissues using probes with increased specificity towards isoforms than was previously done. We compared expression levels of CPEB-2 isoforms, using a Taqman probe for isoform A/E and one for isoform B/D (Applied Biosystems) through qPCR (Rotor Gene 6) in a large panel of human breast cancer vs. non-cancerous tissues. We used a Taqman probe (Applied Biosystems) for GAPDH as our internal loading control. Delta Ct values were calculated by subtracting the average Ct values (triplicate) from the GAPDH loading control and analyzed as previously described (Majumder et al., 2015).

#### 2.5 Western Blot

After protein extraction, protein was quantified using Pierce BCA Reagents A and B (Thermo Fisher) according to the manufacturer's protocol. 20μg of protein was diluted in 2x Laemmli Sample Buffer (Bio-Rad) and placed in a 95°C dry-bath system for 5 minutes for denaturation. Protein was then loaded into 10% polyacrylamide-SDS gels and electrophoresed for 1-1.5 hours at 100V. Gels were then transferred onto Immun-Blot® PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad) for 1.5 hours at 100V and blocked for 1 hour in 3% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) in 1x Tris Buffered Saline with Tween 20 (TBST). For CPEB-2 and p53 antibodies, membranes were blocked in 5% dry non-fat milk (Bio-Rad) in 1x TBST. Membranes were then incubated overnight on a shaker in primary antibody at the following dilutions: E-cadherin (Cell Signaling, Rabbit monoclonal, 1:1000), Vimentin (Cell Signaling, Rabbit monoclonal, 1:1000), N-Cadherin (Santa Cruz, Rabbit polyclonal, 1:200), β-actin (Santa Cruz, Mouse monoclonal, 1:4000), CPEB-2 (Origene, Rabbit polyclonal, 1:1000), p53 (Mouse monoclonal, Novus Biologicals, 1:200), p21 (Mouse monoclonal, Novus Biologicals, 1:200) and β-catenin (Sigma, Rabbit polyclonal, 1:4000). After primary antibody incubation, membranes are washed 3 times for 5 minutes each in 1x TBST, and then incubated for 1 hour in secondary antibody at the following dilutions: Goat Anti-Rabbit (1:10000, Li-COR) or Donkey Anti-Mouse (1:10000, Li-COR). Membranes were then washed twice in 1x TBST for 15 minutes each and scanned using the Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (Li-COR).

#### 2.6 Immunofluorescence

Cells were grown on glass coverslips (Fisherbrand) to 70-80% confluency. The cells were then rinsed with PBS, and fixed for 30 minutes in 4% paraformaldehyde at room temperature. Once fixed, the cells were washed 3x with PBS and permeablized in 0.5% Triton-X-100 for 10 minutes. The cells were washed again 3x with PBS and blocked with 8% BSA with 0.01% Tween20 in PBS for 30 minutes. Cells were washed again 3x with PBS and then incubated in primary antibody at the following dilutions in 4% BSA overnight at 4°C: E-cadherin (Cell Signaling, 1:50), Vimentin (Cell Signaling, 1:50), and N-Cadherin (Santa Cruz, 1:100). The stained cells were then washed again 3x with PBS and stained for 1 hour with secondary antibody at the following dilutions: Goat Anti-Rabbit 594 (1:100, Biotium), Goat Anti-Rabbit 488 (1:100, Biotium). Cells were incubated for 5 minutes in Vectashield anti-fade mounting medium with DAPI (Vector), which was also used to mount the slides. Immunofluorescent images were taken using the Zeiss LSM 510 Meta Multiphoton Confocal Microscope.

#### 2.7 Scratch Assay for Cell Migration

Cells were grown to 90-100% confluency, and serum starved overnight (1% HS). Cells were treated with 0.5µM Mitomycin C 2 hours prior to scratching the plate in order to block proliferation. Mitomycin C was developed as an anti-tumour drug that has the ability to crosslink DNA, thus blocking proliferation (Tomasz, 1995). Each plate was then scratched down the middle with a P200 pipette tip, taking pictures at 0 hours, 24 hours, 48 hours, and 72 hours to measure rate of migration of each cell line (Justus, Leffler, Ruiz-Echevarria, & Yang, 2014). Media consisted of Basal DMEM:F12 media (Gibco), 1% HS and 0.5µM Mitomycin C. Cells were washed with PBS and media was replaced every 24 hours.

#### 2.8 Migration and Invasion Assays using Transwell Chamber

Cells were grown to 70-80% confluency, and serum-starved overnight (1% HS) prior to seeding cells. Membrane inserts for these assays (Corning) have pores 8 $\mu$ m in diameter to allow for migration. Cells were seeded at a density of 2x10<sup>4</sup> cells/insert. For the invasion assay, Matrigel (basement membrane analog) was placed on top of the membrane and allowed to dry overnight. Cells were trypsinized, counted and resuspended at a density of 2x10<sup>3</sup> cells/700 $\mu$ l of basal media. Per insert, 300 $\mu$ l was placed on top of the membrane, and below the membrane 700 $\mu$ l of 5% HS media was placed in order to stimulate migration. The horse serum acted as a chemoattractant for these cells. After 24 hours and 48 hours respectively for migration and invasion assays (Justus et al., 2014), cells were washed off with PBS and the top layer of the membrane was carefully

wiped with a cotton swab to remove excess cells. The cells remaining were then fixed with cold methanol, stained with Eosin (cytoplasm) and Thiazine (nucleus), and mounted onto glass chamber slides. This was done in triplicate and cells were counted.

#### 2.9 **Tumoursphere Formation Assay**

In order to assess SLC phenotype *in vitro*, we used the tumoursphere formation assay where single cell suspensions at low cell concentrations were plated in ultra-low attachment plates and allowed to form into spheroid aggregates called tumourspheres (Shaw et al., 2012). The ability to do so represents their ability to "self-renew", a fundamental property of stem-like cells. Cells are grown to 70-80% confluency, and then trypsinized and spun down. As previously done (Majumder et al., 2016), the cells were then resuspended in basal HuMEC media (Gibco) with added B-27 supplement (Gibco), EGF (20 ng/mL, Invitrogen) and FGF (20 ng/mL, Invitrogen), taken up by a 1 mL syringe and put through a 40-µm cell strainer (Falcon) to collect a single cell suspension. The cells were then counted and seeded at a density of 10 cells/well in an ultra-low attachment 96-well plate (Thermo Fisher) for spheroid forming efficiency, as well as 1x10<sup>3</sup> cells/well in an ultra-low attachment 6-well plate (Corning) for immunofluorescence. After 4 days, spheroids (minimum 60µm in diameter) were counted and divided by total number of cells plated to calculate efficiency.

#### 2.10 EdU Flow Cytometry

In order to measure proliferation *in vitro*, we used the Click-iT EdU Alexa Fluor 488 Imaging kit (Invitrogen) in collaboration with Dr. David Hess according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, WT and CPEB2KO MCF10A cells were incubated for 24 hours with 5'-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine (EdU), allowing for incorporation during DNA synthesis. Cells that successfully incorporate EdU have progressed into or through Sphase, and were detected after fixation through a Click Chemistry reaction using a copper-catalyzed reaction with a fluorescent dye (AlexaFluor 488). Gates were set to include only cells, remove out doublets using side scatter and forward scatter, and remove debris. For each replication, cells were incubated in complete media with EdU or without EdU (negative control). The negative control was then used to set the final gate for EdU positive cells based on auto-fluorescence of the cells. This final gate provided a percentage of EdU-positive cells during the 24 hour period that was compared in each replication.

#### 2.11 Experiments to Evaluate Oncogenicity in Mice

In collaboration with Dr. David Hess, 6-week old female immunodeficient NOD/SCID/IL2R $\gamma$  null mice (deficient in B-cells, T-cells or Natural Killer cells) were used to test lung colony forming capacity and orthotopic tumourigenicity of CPEB-2 knockout MCF10A cells compared to wildtype cells. CRISPR-mediated CPEB-2 knockout cells and wildtype cells were injected intravenously into the tail vein (5x10<sup>5</sup> cells per mouse into 6 mice for each cell type). We isolated lung, spleen and liver after 8

weeks to assess colony formation. We also orthotopically injected 5x10<sup>5</sup> cells mixed 1:1 with Matrigel subcutaneously into both right and left inguinal mammary regions of 5 mice each for the CPEB2KO and parental cells (totaling 10 sites each). After 12 weeks, mice were sacrificed and one mammary fat pad was stored in O.C.T. for frozen sectioning while the other was stored in Bouin's solution for paraffin embedding. Lungs, liver and spleen were also harvested to assess metastasis from original mammary site. Lungs were inflated with PBS prior to isolation. The Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) antibody, provided by Dr. David Hess, was used to confirm that the tumours were of human origin. EdU was systemically injected 24 hours prior to sacrifice to examine proliferation of cells within tumours. Animals were maintained according to the Canadian Council of Animal Care guidelines with food and water ad libitum in the Robarts Research Institute ACVS barrier. All mice were weighed once per week.

#### 2.12 Immunohistochemistry

Lungs, liver and spleen were extracted and stored either in O.C.T for frozen sectioning or Bouin's solution for formalin fixation. After 24 hours, organs were removed from Bouin's solution and placed in neutral buffered formalin (10%) for 48 hours. Tissues were then embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 5µm and stained with Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E). Frozen organs were sectioned at 8µm for lungs, liver and spleen, while mammary fat pads were sectioned at 10µm. Sections were then fixed in 10% formalin, permeablized in 0.1% Triton-X-100, and blocked with M.O.M. according to the manufacturer's protocol. Mouse anti-Human HLA antibody (1:100, BD Pharmingen) was used to detect human cells within all organs, with Horse anti-mouse FITC (1:200, Vector Labs) used to detect the HLA antibody. Sections were subsequently mounted using Vectashield (Vector Labs) with DAPI and viewed on a fluorescent microscope. Micrometastases were scored as single cells, clusters (2-8 cells) and colonies (>8 cells) as reported earlier (Majumder et al., 2016) and averaged within 3 sections, 5 images of  $(400\mu m)^2$  each per section.

#### 2.13 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Graphpad Prism Software 5.0 (Graphpad Software Inc. 2007). Data comparing WT cells to CPEB2KO cells were analyzed using unpaired Student's t-test, and spheroid sizes were compared with the Mann-Whitney test. Human data was compared using a one-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test. Statistical significance was considered if p<0.05 (1 asterisk) and highlighted if p<0.01 (2 asterisks).

# **RESULTS**

# 3.1 CRISPR-Mediated CPEB-2 Knockout

In order to assess tumour-suppressing functions of CPEB-2, a robust approach was taken to knock out the whole gene (all isoforms) using a double nickase CRISPR/Cas9 plasmid in an immortalized mammary epithelial cell line MCF10A. To confirm knockout, both RT-PCR and Western blot were performed, demonstrating 79.2% knockout efficiency (Figure 4).



Figure 4. MCF10A CPEB-2 knockout through a double nickase CRISPR plasmid.

(A) RT-PCR and (B) Western blot of total CPEB-2 expression with 79.2% knockout

efficiency (C). Quantified Data in (C) represent the mean  $(n=3) \pm SEM$ .

#### 3.2 CPEB2KO cells undergo EMT

EMT is a change in cell phenotype that allows epithelial cancers to metastasize to distant parts of the body, and is usually associated with a change in morphology as well as EMT markers (Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009). Upon CPEB-2 knockout, a clear role for this gene was established in suppressing EMT. Morphologically, the original epithelial cells transformed into a more elongated mesenchymal-like shape due to CPEB-2 loss (Figure 5). This indicated a possible change through EMT, so we investigated markers associated with this alteration. Through qRT-PCR, epithelial marker CDH1 (E-cadherin) (transmembrane protein) was found to be significantly decreased (0.116 fold change) in the CPEB2KO cells, with a significant concomitant increase in mesenchymal markers VIM (Vimentin) (intermediate filament) by 1.49-fold, SNAI1 (transcription factor) by 4.38-fold, and ZEB1 (transcription factor) by 4.06-fold (Figure 6). Western blots were performed to confirm this at the protein level, demonstrating almost complete abolishment of E-cadherin expression (0.078-fold change), with significant increases in mesenchymal markers N-cadherin (transmembrane protein) (6.93-fold change) and Vimentin (2.75-fold change) (Figure 7). Immunofluorescence was also used to confirm this phenotype using markers E-cadherin (0.20-fold change), N-cadherin (1.80-fold change), and Vimentin (3.50-fold change) (Figure 8). Cadherin switching, from Ecadherin to N-cadherin, was evident through the use of immunofluorescence (Figure 8).



# Figure 5. Mesenchymal morphology of CPEB2KO MCF10A cells. Wildtype

MCF10A cell (left) exhibiting epithelial cell morphology. CPEB2KO cells (right),

exhibiting elongated, mesenchymal (Fibroblast-like) morphology. (Magnification = 10x)



**Figure 6. Quantitative RT-PCR for EMT markers showing EMT in CPEB2KO cells at the mRNA level**. qRT-PCR (Mean ±SEM) for epithelial marker E-cadherin and mesenchymal markers TWIST1, ZEB1, Vimentin and SNAI1 using WT and CPEB2KO cell lines (n=3). E-cadherin was significantly decreased (0.116 fold change, p=0.00001), with significant increases in ZEB1 (4.06 fold change, p=0.002) Vimentin (1.49 fold change, p=0.01), and SNAI1 (4.38 fold change, p=0.002) in CPEB2KO cells. Student's T-test used for analysis. (\*) indicates p<0.05. (\*\*) indicates p<0.01.



Figure 7. Western Blot showing induction of EMT in CPEB2KO cells at the protein level. Representative Western blots shown on the left. Quantification (Mean  $\pm$ SEM) (ImageJ Software) of Western Blots (right) for E-cadherin, Vimentin and N-Cadherin in Wildtype (n=3) and CPEB2KO cell lines (n=3). E-cadherin protein expression was significantly decreased (0.078 fold change, p=0.00002), with a significant increase in Vimentin (2.75 fold change, p=0.010) and N-cadherin (6.93 fold change, p=0.046) in CPEB2KO cells. Student's T-test used for analysis. (\*) indicates p<0.05, (\*\*) indicates p<0.01.



Figure 8. CPEB2KO induced EMT visualized through immunofluorescence of markers. Integrated Density was quantified (Mean ±SEM) (ImageJ Software) for immunofluorescence images and normalized to cell number for E-cadherin, Vimentin and N-Cadherin in WT (n=3) and CPEB2KO cell lines (n=3). E-cadherin protein expression was significantly decreased (0.20 fold change, p=0.0002), with a significant increase in Vimentin (3.50 fold change, p=0.00033) and N-cadherin (1.80 fold change, p=0.00046) in CPEB2KO cells. Scale = 20µm. Student's T-test used for analysis. (\*\*) indicates p<0.01.

#### **3.3** CPEB2KO increases chemokinesis, migratory rate and invasion

Transitioning from an epithelial cell type into a mesenchymal phenotype is usually associated with an increase in both migratory ability and invasiveness due to the changes in molecular expression. For example, a loss in E-cadherin allows the cells to detach from each other and an increase in Vimentin mediates cytoskeletal reorganization (N.-G. Kim et al., 2011; Kourtidis et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2015). To truly assess migration alone, we used a 72-hour scratch assay, but we serum-starved the cells overnight, while also blocking proliferation using Mitomycin C prior to scratching. Over 72 hours, the CPEB2KO cells migrated 35.82µm/24 hours, while their epithelial counterparts migrated 3.57µm/24 hours (Figure 9). Therefore, the CPEB2KO cells migrated 10.03-fold faster than the WT cells.

To further examine the migratory ability of these cell populations, we used a Transwell migration (chemokinesis) assay. Serum-starved CPEB2KO cells migrated through the membrane into the 5% Horse Serum chamber, in a similar fashion to the scratch or wound-healing assay with 10.89-fold as many cells on the bottom side of the membrane (Figure 10). Alongside migration, ability to invade distant sites is an important oncogenic phenotype used in metastasis of cancer cells. Using a similar transwell chamber, the microporous membrane was coated with basement membrane analog Matrigel to assess invasiveness. These CPEB2KO cells were able to degrade the Matrigel and invade 3.43-fold more than the WT cells over 48 hours (Figure 10).



Figure 9. CPEB2KO cells migrated faster than WT cells in a Scratch Assay over 72 hours. Representative images of both wildtype MCF10A cells and CPEB2KO cells (n=3) that were scratched, allowed to migrate in 1% Horse Serum, treated with Mitomycin C to block proliferation. Average migratory rate (Mean ±SEM) was  $35.82\mu$ m/24 hours in CPEB2KO cells (Total Distance - 24 hr:  $43.94\mu$ m (p=0.0004), 48 hr:  $64.495\mu$ m (p=0.001), 72 hr:  $93.82\mu$ m (p=0.0001)) while Wildtype cells migrated  $3.57\mu$ m/24 hours (Total Distance - 24 hr:  $3.74\mu$ m, 48 hr:  $7.097\mu$ m, 72 hr:  $10.30\mu$ m). Scale =  $100\mu$ m. Student's T-test used for analysis. (\*\*) indicates p<0.01.



Figure 10. CPEB2KO cells exhibited increased migration and invasion in Transwell Assays. Both wildtype MCF10A cells and CPEB2KO cells were serum starved, plated in the top chamber of the transwell, which was covered with Matrigel for the invasion assays, and allowed to migrate/invade and into 5% Horse Serum in the bottom chamber. Cells were treated with Mitomycin C to block proliferation. Migration was 10.89x more in CPEB2KO cells, while invasion (Mean ±SEM) was 3.43x more in CPEB2KO cells as Wildtype. (\*) indicates p<0.05. (\*\*) indicates p<0.01.

#### 3.4 Proliferation increases in CPEB2KO cells

Sustained proliferative ability is a hallmark of cancer cells (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011) We therefore examined DNA synthesis, which is indicative of active proliferation of both CPEB2KO cells and wildtype MCF10A cells. We performed flow cytometry for 5'-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine (EdU) to measure DNA synthesis. Over 24 hours, EdU incorporates into the DNA of cells that are actively synthesizing DNA (cells that are preparing to divide), and can be measured through fluorescence. Across all three replicative measurements, CPEB2KO cells demonstrated an increase in proliferation compared to WT cells (Figure 11).



Figure 11. CPEB2KO cells exhibited increased proliferation after 24 hours measured using flow cytometry (Click-iT EdU Alexa Fluor 488 Imaging Kit). Wildtype MCF10A cells without EdU were used with the same protocol as a negative control. Replicate 1 used 1 million cells, while replicates 2 and 3 used 10,000 cells each. CPEB2KO MCF10A cells incubated with EdU for 24 hours showed increases in actively proliferating cells (S-phase) across all 3 replications.

#### **3.5 CPEB2KO stimulates SLC Phenotype**

We recently discovered that COX-2 plays a very important role in inducing the stem-cell state through Notch/Wnt pathways in breast cancer (Majumder et al., 2016). Therefore, we examined the role of CPEB-2 in SLC phenotype through the tumoursphere formation assay *in vitro*, which displays a cell's ability to self-renew in an ultra low attachment plate. The CPEB2KO cells had significantly larger sizes of tumourspheres  $(91.42\mu m)$  compared to WT cells (70.92 $\mu m$ ) as well as an increase in tumoursphere formation efficiency (5.12-fold increase in CPEB2KO cells) (Figure 12). We have investigated the mechanism behind this phenotype further. CPEB-2 was reported in mouse neuronal cells to bind to  $\beta$ -catenin mRNA to repress translation (Turimella et al., 2015). Therefore, we compared expression of  $\beta$ -catenin at the protein level in wildtype and CPEB2KO cells, as well as downstream gene expression changes involved in the  $\beta$ catenin/wnt pathway (AXIN2, AXIN1, CCND1, Myc). Using a western blot,  $\beta$ -catenin was upregulated in the CPEB2KO cell line (1.29-fold) compared to WT cells (Figure 13). Furthermore, this increase was associated with significant increases in CCND1 (3.49fold) and AXIN1 (1.298-fold) at the mRNA level (Figure 13), suggesting that this pathway may be important in mediating the SLC phenotype noted earlier.





**Spheroid Size** 



Figure 12. Increased tumoursphere formation efficiency and size in CPEB2KO cells after 4 days. (A) Representative images of both WT MCF10A cells and CPEB2KO cells plated on ultra-low attachment plates. (B) Dot plot (Mean ±SEM) of spheroid size (Mann-Whitney Test for statistical significance) showing increased average diameter (WT=70.92 $\mu$ m, CPEB2KO=91.42 $\mu$ m, p=0.0017). (C) Efficiency of spheroid formation (Mean ±SEM) calculated as number of tumourspheres >60 $\mu$ m divided by total number of cells plated. CPEB2KO cells showed 5.12-fold increase (p=0.01) in tumoursphere forming efficiency. Student's T-test used for analysis. Scale = 60 $\mu$ m. (\*\*) indicates p<0.01.



Figure 13. Increased β-catenin pathway signaling in CPEB2KO cells. (A)

Representative Western blot and quantification (Mean ±SEM) (ImageJ Software) for  $\beta$ catenin expression (n=3). (B) qRT-PCR (Mean ±SEM) for downstream genes of  $\beta$ catenin pathway (n=3 for each).  $\beta$ -catenin was increased 1.29 fold (p=0.048) in CPEB2KO cells, with increases in downstream target genes CCND1 (3.49 fold increase, p=0.039), and AXIN1 (1.298 fold increase, p=0.034). No significant change was observed in AXIN2 (1.73 fold change, p=0.10) or Myc (0.76 fold change, p=0.051). Student's T-test used for analysis. (\*) indicates p<0.05.

### 3.6 VEGF-D expression is increased in CPEB2KO cells

Our lab has shown a role of COX-2 in promoting lymphangiogenic factor production, specifically VEGF-C and VEGF-D, through the EP4 receptor activation (Xin et al., 2012). Overexpression of these factors allows tumour cells to recruit lymphatic vessel growth to ultimately be able to metastasize through the lymphatic system (Alitalo & Carmeliet, 2002). Through qRT-PCR, no change was seen in the production of VEGF-B or VEGF-C, however a 4.68-fold upregulation of VEGF-D expression was seen in the CPEB2KO cells compared to WT cells (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Increased VEGF-D expression at the mRNA level in CPEB2KO cells.

qRT-PCR (Mean ±SEM) for VEGF-B, -C and -D using WT and CPEB2KO cell lines (n=3). *VEGF-D* mRNA expression was increased an average of 4.68 fold over WT cells (Student's T Test, p=0.00016). (\*\*) indicates p<0.01.

#### 3.7 COX-2 and EP4 are upregulated in CPEB2KO cells

Previous work in our lab demonstrated that pharmacological inhibition of COX-2 or EP4 increased expression of CPEB-2. Furthermore, overexpression of microRNAs -526b and -655 decreased expression of CPEB-2, while increasing expression of COX-2 and EP4, thereby showing a feedback loop, the underlying molecular mechanisms remaining to be identified. This prompted us to examine if COX-2 or EP4 expression were altered when CPEB-2 was knocked out to elucidate this mechanism. Through qRT-PCR, we discovered a 4.31-fold increase in COX-2 mRNA expression and a 3.45-fold increase in EP4 mRNA expression (Figure 15).



# **Figure 15. COX-2** (*PTGS2*) and EP4 (*PTGER4*) expression is increased in CPEB2KO cells. qRT-PCR (Mean ±SEM) for COX-2 and EP4 using WT and CPEB2KO cell lines (n=3). *COX-2* mRNA expression was increased an average of 4.31fold compared to WT cells (p=0.0024). EP4 mRNA expression was increased an average of 3.45-fold compared to WT cells (p=0.011). Student's T-test used for analysis. (\*) indicates p<0.05. (\*\*) indicates p<0.01.
#### 3.8 p53 Translational Regulation

CPEB-1 was reported to regulate the translation of a powerful tumour suppressor, p53, which had 2 CPE domains in its 3' UTR (Burns & Richter, 2008). CPEB-1 knockdown cells were reported to have reduced p53 expression with shorter poly-A tails, which led to reduced translation efficiency (Burns & Richter, 2008). CPEB-1 and CPEB-2 were reported to co-regulate many molecules, such as HIF1α and TWIST1 (Hägele et al., 2009; Nairismägi et al., 2012), and so we investigated p53 as another candidate using the CPEB2KO MCF10A cell line. Through qRT-PCR, we discovered that p53 mRNA expression in the CPEB2KO cells was not significantly different from the WT cells (Figure 16). However, through a western blot, we discovered about 60% lower expression of p53 at the protein level in CPEB2KO cells, suggesting that p53 is differentially regulated at the translational level (Figure 16). We also examined p21 expression, a downstream effector of p53, through a western blot and discovered a similar downregulation in the CPEB2KO cells, indicating that the p53 pathway is negatively affected in these cells (Figure 16).



Figure 16. p53 translational regulation in CPEB2KO cells. (A) qRT-PCR (Mean  $\pm$ SEM) for p53 expression showing no difference (n=3). (B) Quantification (Mean  $\pm$ SEM) (ImageJ Software) of Western Blots for p53 (C) in Wildtype and CPEB2KO cell lines (n=3). p53 protein expression was significantly reduced (0.41 fold change, p=0.000006) in CPEB2KO cells. (D) Quantification of p21 (downstream effector of p53) protein expression (Mean  $\pm$ SEM) (C) in WT and CPEB2KO cell lines (n=3). p21 was significantly reduced (0.34 fold change, p=0.0004) in CPEB2KO cells. Student's T-test used for analysis. (\*\*) indicates p<0.01.

#### **3.9** Tumour-Forming Ability and Metastatic Capacity

Wildtype MCF10A cells, although immortalized, are epithelial in nature and nontumourigenic in vivo (Hurst, Xie, Edmonds, & Welch, 2009). We confirmed this finding in our study (Figure 18, 20). However, upon CPEB-2 knockout, these cells revealed a possible oncogenic phenotype. They formed micrometastasis-like lesions in the lungs, but not in the liver or spleen, of all 6 mice, 8 weeks after intravenous injection as seen through H&E staining (Figure 18A, 20), whereas the wildtype cells formed no micrometastases in lungs as expected (Figure 18,20). Through immunostaining for human marker HLA, we confirmed these were of human origin, discovering more undetectable human cells than could be visualized through H&E staining (Figure 18B). Additionally, macroscopic tumours were formed after orthotopic injection of the CPEB2KO cells in 3 out of the 5 mice (3 out of 10 total injection sites) (Figure 20). Furthermore, after 12 weeks, these cells were also able to spontaneously metastasize to the lungs of 2 out of the 5 mice (Figure 20D). However, weights of these mice were not significantly different between wildtype- versus CPEB2KO-injected recipients (Figure 17,19). As the micrometastases and tumours formed in these mice were not necessarily large, they may not have affected the morbidity of these mice and therefore did not affect the weights. During these time periods, there were no observations of any morbidity issues (lethargy, piloerection) in these mice.



## **Intravenous Injection**

**Figure 17. Weights of NOD/SCID/IL2Rγ null mice injected intravenously with WT and CPEB2KO cells.** Changes in weight (g) per week in CPEB2KO mice did not differ from those in Wildtype mice over the 8-week period.



Figure 18. CPEB2KO cells injected intravenously into NOD/SCID/IL2R $\gamma$  null mice form micrometastases in the lung. (A) Representative images of mice lungs that received 5x10<sup>5</sup> WT and CPEB2KO cells intravenously, and stained with H&E that showed possible micrometastases in the CPEB2KO recipient. Arrow pointing at micrometastatic lesion. (B) Lungs of WT and CPEB2KO cell recipient mice lungs stained with HLA (green) and DAPI (blue) showed human cells unidentifiable using H&E. (C) Quantification (5 images per section, 3 non-serial sections per mouse) (Mean ±SEM) of single cells, clusters and colonies within lung sections stained with HLA antibody. Scale = 50µm (IF images) and 100µm (H&E images).



**Figure 19. Weights of NOD/SCID/IL2Rγ-null mice injected orthotopically with WT and CPEB2KO cells.** Changes in weight (g) per week in CPEB2KO mice did not differ from those in Wildtype mice over the 12-week period.



B

A

CPEB2KO





Tumour Forming Efficiency





Figure 20. CPEB2KO cells injected orthotopically into NOD/SCID/IL2R $\gamma$ -null mice form tumours and spontaneously metastasize to the lung. (A) Representative images of mice and mammary regions 12 weeks after  $5 \times 10^5$  cells were injected and organs were harvested. Arrow pointing to tumour. (B) Representative image of mammary region sectioned and stained with HLA antibody. (C) Tumour-forming efficiency calculated by number of mice identified with micro/macroscopic tumour lesions divided by total number of injection sites. (D) HLA positive cells found in the lungs of 2 mice. Scale=100µm.

#### 3.10 Expression of CPEB-2 in Human Breast Cancer Tissues

In order to examine if CPEB-2 expression is altered in breast cancer, we examined expression of CPEB-2 isoforms in 105 tumour and 20 histologically identified non-tumour breast tissues. As seen in Figure 21, we have completed the analysis of isoform A/E in 105 breast cancer samples. Six of the samples failed to amplify our control gene (GAPDH) or CPEB2 isoform A/E and so they were excluded from analysis. The failure to amplify this isoform could have indicated much lower expression of isoform A/E, as most of these samples successfully amplified the control gene GAPDH. While comparing tumour samples to control, there was no significant difference in isoform A/E expression (Figure 21A). However, when we subcategorized the tumour samples into breast cancer subtype (ER/PR+, HER2+, Triple Negative), the delta Ct for the CPEB2A/E expression within the HER2+ subtype was significantly higher than the control tissues, indicating lower expression of this isoform (Figure 21B). We also examined isoforms CPEB2B/D (data not shown), however the CPEB2B/D probe showed no significant difference among these groups. There were only 15 HER2+ samples used in this analysis that amplified this isoform expression, but this significant difference warrants further investigation into this phenomenon.

A

## Human Tissue CPEB2A/E Expression





## Human Tissue CPEB2A/E Expression



# **Figure 21. Human breast cancer tissue expression of CPEB-2 isoform A/E normalized to GAPDH control gene showed decreased expression in HER2+ subset.** 105 breast cancer cDNA samples analyzed by qPCR, with 6 samples failing to amplify expression of GAPDH or CPEB2A (removed) and 20 control breast tissues used. (A) Total CPEB2A/E expression in tumour tissue compared to control. (B) CPEB2A/E expression (Mean ±SEM) broken down into breast cancer subtype. One-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post test for significance. (\*) indicates p<0.05.

## 4 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

#### 4.1 Summary of Findings

*Objective 1: To define the consequences of CPEB-2 knockout in the MCF10A cell line on oncogenic functions tested in vitro.* 

CPEB-2 was knocked out in a non-tumourigenic mammary epithelial MCF10A cell line using a double nickase CRISPR/Cas9 plasmid. These CPEB2KO cells demonstrated an increase in proliferation, migration, invasiveness, EMT markers and a mesenchymal morphology. Furthermore, these CPEB2KO cells increased most markers of SLC phenotype, with increased tumoursphere formation efficiency, and an increased in expression of SLC-linked protein β-catenin and downstream genes CCND1 and AXIN1. VEGF-D expression at the mRNA level was also increased in CPEB2KO cells. Upstream regulators of CPEB-2, COX-2 and EP4, were also increased at the mRNA level, demonstrating a possible feedback loop. Lastly, we demonstrate here that CPEB-2 is a possible novel translational regulator of tumour suppressor p53.

*Objective 2: To define the consequences of CPEB-2 knockout in the MCF10A cell line on oncogenic functions tested in vivo.* 

Wildtype and CPEB-2 knockout cells were both injected into immunodeficient NOD/SCID/IL2R $\gamma$ -null mice intravenously into the tail vein and orthotopically into the mammary region. WT cells were not expected to form tumours *in vivo*, and this was confirmed with these experiments. However, upon knockout of CPEB-2, these cells were able to form micrometastases in the lungs of all 6 injected mice, while forming

macroscopic tumours in the mammary region of 3/5 mice (3/10 injection sites). In two of the tumour-bearing mice, cells spontaneously metastasized to the lungs.

*Objective 3: To evaluate the clinical significance of CPEB -2 expression in human breast cancer samples.* 

CPEB-2 is alternatively spliced into 6 isoforms at the mRNA level, and the ratio of isoform B:A was reported to differ in expression in tumour vs control tissue (Johnson et al., 2015). We therefore wanted to examine tumour expression of CPEB2 isoforms A and B in our tumour bank of 105 samples. Examining expression of CPEB-2 isoforms A/E vs. B/D (isoforms could not be separated due to similarity among these isoforms) in human breast cancer samples compared to control tissues, we found no difference CPEB2A/E or CPEB2B/D expression in total tumour tissues compared to control nontumour tissues. However, when breast cancer tissues were broken down into subtypes, CPEB-2A/E was significantly downregulated in HER2+ breast cancer samples, whereas no difference was found in ER+/PR+ or Triple Negative samples compared to control.

#### 4.2 Contributions to Current Field of Research

COX-2 is overexpressed in 40-50% of breast cancer cases, demonstrating a necessity to examine mechanism of COX-2-mediated tumourigenicity. COX-2 inhibitors and low dose Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs) have been proven to reduce risk of breast cancer and growth of cancer cells (Singh-Ranger et al., 2008; Williams et al., 1999). However, due to cardiovascular side effects of using COX-2 inhibitors (associated with reduction in cardioprotective molecule prostacyclin) (Williams et al., 1999), our lab is examining downstream effectors of COX-2 in order to discover new therapeutic targets.

MicroRNAs -526b (Majumder et al., 2015) and -655 (data unpublished) are both upregulated by COX-2 overexpression, and have been shown by our lab to mediate oncogenic and SLC phenotypes when overexpressed and reduce these phenotypes when knocked down. COX-2 also induces the SLC phenotype through both Notch and Wnt pathways to perpetuate tumour growth (Majumder et al., 2016). In addition, overexpression or stimulation of COX-2, EP4 and overexpression of these microRNAs all reduced CPEB-2 expression, showing that CPEB-2 is regulated by the COX-2/EP4/microRNA axis. Therefore, our identification of CPEB-2 as a tumour-suppressor in breast cancer unveils a newer mechanism in COX-2/EP4-mediated tumour progression via CPEB2 as a downstream tumour suppressor gene.

# 4.3 Role of CPEB-2 in proliferation, migration, invasion, EMT, SLC phenotype, VEGF-D expression, COX-2/EP4 expression and p53 regulation

Here, we have demonstrated a robust role of CPEB-2 in suppressing oncogenic functions *in vitro*. CPEB-2 was demonstrated to suppress proliferation, with all three experiments showing increased DNA synthesis, thus higher proliferative capacity in CPEB2KO cells. Through the *in vitro* tumoursphere formation assay, the spheroids formed much larger sizes, showing that perhaps the SLC population proliferated much faster as well. Increased  $\beta$ -catenin noted in CPEB2KO cells may be responsible for a higher self-renewal capacity of stem-like cells and also increased proliferative ability of non-stem cells. Increased  $\beta$ -catenin signaling led to increased expression of *CCND1*, which is a nuclear protein that forms a complex with CDK4 and CDK6, and ultimately leads to progression through G1 into S-phase during proliferation (Baldin, Lukas, Marcote, Pagano, & Draetta, 1993).

Migration and invasiveness are two important phenotypes in the process of metastasis in breast cancer that can be assessed *in vitro*. COX-2 and EP4 inhibition was shown to reduce migration and invasiveness in murine and human breast cancer cells (Majumder et al., 2014; Timoshenko et al., 2003), while stimulation and overexpression of microRNA-526b was shown to increase migration and invasion (Majumder et al., 2015). Cells that have undergone EMT are usually also associated with an increased ability to migrate and invade (Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009). Here, by both scratch assay and Transwell migration assay, increased motility was seen in the CPEB2KO cells. While the signaling pathways responsible for migration stimulation on CPEB2KO cells remain to be identified, we speculate this may be due to increased EP4 activity, since EP4 was shown to be upregulated in CPEB2KO cells. β-arrestin/c-Src signaling has been identified as one of the downstream mediators of EP4 activity responsible for migration stimulation in lung cancer cells (J. Il Kim, Lakshmikanthan, Frilot, & Daaka, 2010). In addition, CPEB2KO cells degraded the basement membrane analog Matrigel to invade more than the WT cells. The mechanisms underlying this function remain to be identified.

TWIST1 is a oncogenic transcription factor known to mediate EMT in breast cancer, as well as inhibit apoptosis through evasion of p53-induced cell death (J. Li & Zhou, 2011; Maestro et al., 1999). Due to CPEB-2 translational repression of TWIST1 expression, this could be a mechanism by which EMT is suppressed (Nairismägi et al., 2012). This confirms why we saw no effect on TWIST1 mRNA expression, as it is regulated post transcriptionally by CPEB-2. Other transcription factors that were increased at the mRNA level (SNAI1, ZEB1) (Figure 4) after CPEB-2 knockout could have contributed to EMT regulation as well. Both SNAI1 and ZEB1 are known to suppress transcription of E-cadherin (CDH1) through binding the promoter, while playing important roles in invasion and metastasis as well (Batlle et al., 2000; Smit & Peeper, 2010). Not much is known about N-cadherin transcriptional regulation during cadherin switching, however Twist1 was reported to modulate N-cadherin expression by binding to the E-box on CDH2 (N-cadherin) (Alexander et al., 2006; Wheelock et al., 2008). N-cadherin overexpression in breast cancer cells has been shown to promote motility, invasion, and metastasis, independent of E-cadherin expression (Nieman,

Prudoff, Johnson, & Wheelock, 1999). Therefore, an increase in N-cadherin expression could have contributed to these phenotypes in the CPEB2KO MCF10A cells.

CPEB-2 suppresses the translation of 2 oncogenic molecules, TWIST1 (Nairismägi et al., 2012) and HIF1a (P.-J. Chen et al., 2015; P.-J. Chen & Huang, 2012; Hägele et al., 2009). In a similar fashion, p53 is a very well known tumour-suppressing molecule, responsible for many functions including suppressing EMT, migration, and invasion through the transcriptional regulation of key molecules (Bieging, Mello, & Attardi, 2014). We have shown here that CPEB-2 is a possible novel regulator of p53. This key finding of p53 translational regulation by CPEB-2 demonstrates an even larger role in suppressing tumour formation. Furthermore, p53 has been shown to reduce selfrenewal, a key function of stem-like cells (Bieging et al., 2014). This aligns with our findings that CPEB2KO cells show increased spheroid formation in the tumoursphere formation assay. We have also demonstrated a downstream effector of p53, called p21, to be significantly downregulated in CPEB2KO cells. There still remains the possibility of CPEB-2 regulating another molecule that regulates p53 translation, however because CPEB-1 has been found to regulate p53 translation through lengthening the poly-A tail, combined with 2 CPE sequences in the 3'UTR of p53, this remains unlikely (Burns & Richter, 2008).

Previous studies have indicated that an increased ratio of CPEB2 isoform B to A expression confers anoikis-resistance, a metastatic phenotype, to triple negative breast cancer cells. In the present study, we have used the MCF10A cell line, which primarily expresses isoform A, and our results of CPEB2 knockout indicate a tumour suppressive role. We also demonstrate a significant difference in just isoform A/E expression within

HER2+ breast cancer samples. Our lab showed that COX-2 and EP4 were both significantly upregulated in these 105 breast cancer samples (Majumder et al., 2016). It remains to be investigated whether this is due to COX-2 upregulation by HER-2, and whether CPEB-2 is downregulated in the COX-2 overexpressing subset. Further isoform-selective *in situ* studies are also required with larger number of samples.

COX-2 overexpressing MCF-7 cells have recently been shown to induce the formation of SLCs in this cell population, exhibiting increased expression of Notch and Wnt stem cell pathways (Majumder et al., 2016). Not only did these MCF-7-COX2 cells demonstrate increased tumoursphere formation efficiency, but Wnt pathway protein  $\beta$ -catenin was shown to be upregulated in these MCF-7-COX2 spheroids and downstream genes *CCND1*, *AXIN1* and *AXIN2* were all significantly increased, with no change in *c*-*Myc* (Majumder et al., 2016). These results are in concordance with the data we have collected from the CPEB-2 knockout cells.

Our lab demonstrated that overexpression of microRNAs-526b and -655 increased expression of COX-2 and EP4 (unpublished). COX-2 and EP4 were previously shown by our lab to increase expression of these microRNAs (Majumder et al., 2015), indicating a possible feedback mechanism here. It was therefore intriguing to examine if CPEB2KO cells demonstrated this expression pattern as well. Through qRT-PCR, mRNA expression showed significant increases in both COX-2 and EP4 due to loss of CPEB-2, thereby showing that CPEB-2 may also be part of this feedback loop. The underlying molecular mechanisms remain to be investigated. Lymphangiogenesis is a process that tumour cells hijack to metastasize through lymphatic vessels to distant parts of the body. Growth factors, like VEGF-C and VEGF-D are known to stimulate lymphangiogenesis (Alitalo & Carmeliet, 2002). COX-2 promotes production and secretion of these factors through EP4 activation and stimulates lymphangiogenesis in breast cancer (Majumder et al., 2014; Nandi et al., 2017; A Timoshenko et al., 2006; Xin et al., 2012). Here, we show increased expression at the mRNA level of VEGF-D, but not VEGF-C in CPEB2KO cells over WT cells. Examination at the protein level (through Western blot) and secretion (through Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)) of this protein is necessary to confirm this phenotype.

#### 4.4 Role of CPEB-2 in Tumour Suppression *in vivo* and in human breast cancer

The most rigorous test of a potential tumour-suppressing gene is to remove this gene from a cell line that is not capable of forming tumours *in vivo*, and examine whether this process converts it into an oncogenic cell line. After knocking out CPEB-2, we injected these cells and their WT predecessors into immunodeficient NOD/SCID/ IL2R $\gamma$ -null mice intravenously and orthotopically into the mammary region. As expected, the WT MCF10A cells did not form tumours *in vivo*. In contrast, CPEB2KO cells were able to form micrometastases in the lungs of all 6 mice after 8 weeks, and in the mammary region they were able to form macroscopic tumours in 3 of the 5 mice, while metastasizing spontaneously in 2 of those mice to the lungs after 12 weeks. This finding convincingly demonstrates a tumour suppressor role of CPEB-2.

MCF10A cells have been extensively used to examine oncogene and tumour suppressor function in breast cancer due to their epithelial heritage (Bessette et al., 2015; Nairismägi et al., 2012; Qu et al., 2015; Sung et al., 2009). The first model of an oncogenic transformation using MCF10A cells was with transfection with c-Ha-Ras, an oncogene (Basolo et al., 1991). After overexpression, these cells implanted into irradiated nude mice where they were able to form oncogenic lesions that progressed into breast carcinomas (Basolo et al., 1991; Dawson, Wolman, Tait, Heppner, & Miller, 1996). Cells were extracted from these tumours and an aggressive oncogenic cell line, MCF10AT1, was created (Dawson et al., 1996). Similarly, knocking out a single gene, CPEB-2, was able to promote tumour formation in a non-tumourigenic cell line. CPEB-2 data from the Cancer Genome Atlas on breast cancer showed conflicting data, demonstrating poor expression, no change and overexpression in different types of breast cancer (D'Ambrogio et al., 2013). Along with the report of CPEB-2 isoform ratio B:A conferring anoikis resistance and a metastatic phenotype (Johnson et al., 2015), we hypothesize that this could be due to isoform-specific expression. Due to similarity of the isoforms, separation was only possible to examine both isoform A and E together, and B and D together. Whole breast tumour data showed no significant difference from control tissues in either isoform analysis, as expected from previous reports (D'Ambrogio et al., 2013). However, once separated into subtypes, HER2+ tumour samples showed a significant decrease in expression from control tissues. These results were very intriguing because COX-2 expression is known to be increased in HER2+ tumour samples as well (Ristimäki et al., 2002). Because there were only 15 HER2+ tumour samples in our tumour bank, even though the data was statistically significant, these results should be further examined in a larger population.

#### 4.5 Limitations

Here, we examined 2 isoforms at a time (A/E, B/D) of CPEB-2 in human breast cancer samples. Ideally, if single isoform expression of CPEB-2 could have been analyzed in all human breast cancer samples, we may discern which isoform is significant in this phenotype. Due to the similarity of isoforms, this would not be possible, and therefore examination of two isoforms at a time was the closest we could get isoformspecific expression.

Experiments in this project have been limited to one human mammary epithelial cell line, MCF10A, and so it remains a possibility that some of these results are cell line dependent. Further studies could examine these phenotypes in the human luminal epithelial cell line MCF-12A, or through specific tissue ablation *in vivo* in mice mammary glands. However, some EMT and SLC experiments previously performed by Asma Hasan (MSc) have demonstrated a role of CPEB-2 in suppressing these phenotypes in a non-metastatic human breast cancer cell line MCF-7. Furthermore, other investigators have shown a role of CPEB-2 in suppressing oncogenic transcription factor TWIST1 (Nairismägi et al., 2012), angiogenic molecule HIF1 $\alpha$  (P.-J. Chen et al., 2015; P.-J. Chen & Huang, 2012; Hägele et al., 2009), and SLC-linked protein  $\beta$ -catenin (Turimella et al., 2015). In addition, CPEB-2 was reported by Johnson et al., 2015 to mediate a metastatic phenotype, anoikis resistance, through isoform-selective expression.

Unfortunately, commercially available antibodies for CPEB-2 are extremely limited. No monoclonal antibodies exist for CPEB-2, and the polyclonal ones that do exist rarely work as expected/instructed by the manufacturing company. In my project, we tried multiple antibodies, taking months until one worked. No CPEB-2 antibody has been made for immunoprecipitation experiments, and thus specificity would be very difficult to examine mRNA-binding targets of CPEB-2. Since CPEB-2 functions as an mRNA binding protein, it would be critical to identify specific targets relevant to our findings as a tumour suppressor. Once the antibodies become more specific and are verified for immunoprecipitation experiments, we could use them to confirm p53 translational regulation, as described below.

Our population of cells used in these experiments demonstrated a 79.2% knockout efficiency of CPEB-2. Because there is a mixed population of cells and thus still detectable expression of CPEB-2, our results could have been altered slightly. However, we confirmed that the knockout percentage didn't change at multiple points throughout these experiments through Western blot.

Furthermore, as previously stated, in our human breast cancer tissue examination of CPEB-2 isoforms, the number of HER2 positive human breast cancer tumours is limited to 15 samples. COX-2 is known to be co-expressed with HER2+ tumours (Bhattacharjee et al., 2010; Ristimäki et al., 2002), and because COX-2 suppresses CPEB-2 expression, these results can be explained as a consequence of COX-2 expression. Although promising, conclusions on this data should be reserved for a larger population sample including COX-2 expression.

#### 4.6 Future Directions

In these experiments, we discovered that CPEB-2 is a novel translational regulator of tumour suppressor p53. To confirm this finding, upon better antibodies being made, CPEB-2 can be analyzed through RNA Immunoprecipitation (RIP) with p53, or by Cross Linking Immunoprecipitation (CLIP) to examine binding of CPEB-2 to p53 mRNA (Zhang, Xie, Xu, & Qu, 2015). Another way to examine this without a better antibody is through a method called polysomal profiling (Chassé, Boulben, Costache, Cormier, & Morales, 2016). This method consists of isolating polysomes from cell populations, fractionating them using a sucrose gradient, and examining mRNA through qRT-PCR of each fraction. The lower, thus heavier, fractions when examined indicate increased translation of the target mRNA, whereas higher and lighter fractions indicate less translated mRNA. In the WT and CPEB2KO populations, reduced translation in the CPEB2KO cell line (higher fraction) would be expected with our results.

Our results demonstrated a robust role of CPEB-2 in suppressing EMT and migration. The CPEB2KO cells were also able to break down the basement membrane analog Matrigel, in order to invade through into the bottom chamber of the Transwell more than three times faster than the WT cells. Although these results were promising, we could examine the underlying mechanisms through zymographic analysis of Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMPs). Zymography is an electrophoresis technique used to assess activity of ECM degradation enzymes, such as MMPs (Kupai et al., 2010). Through renaturation of the protein structures, the enzymes become active again after being run through a gelatin-based gel, and quantification of gel breakdown after staining can be examined.

We discovered that VEGF-D expression was significantly increased in the CPEB2KO cells. This was only shown at the mRNA level, and so future studies should focus on examination at the protein level through both western blot (production) and ELISA (secreted) to confirm this phenotype. Furthermore, once analyzed through ELISA, cell media can be taken from both cell populations and used to examine lymphatic vessel growth using lymphatic endothelial cells as previously done in our lab (Nandi et al., 2017).

COX-2 expression is increased in almost half of all breast cancer cases, and has a robust role in perpetuating tumour growth. One of these mechanisms was through the increase of microRNAs -526b and -655, which when overexpressed, increased expression of COX-2 and EP4. Because CPEB2KO cells showed significantly increased expression of both COX-2 and EP4 as well, future experiments should be focused on confirming this expression change at the protein level, as well as uncovering the mechanism by which this possible feedback loop may function.

Present experiments focused on knocking out CPEB-2 in a non-tumourigenic cell line and examining changes in oncogenic phenotypes *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Results showed a role of CPEB-2 in suppressing tumour formation. To follow these studies, CPEB-2 should be overexpressed in a highly aggressive breast cancer cell line, such as MDA-MB-231 through an inducible system. Induction of CPEB-2 overexpression can be controlled while examining *in vitro* oncogenic phenotypes (proliferation, migration, invasion, EMT, SLC, VEGF expression). In concordance with these results, decreases in *in vitro* oncogenic functions would be expected when CPEB-2 is overexpressed. Furthermore CPEB-2 overexpressing MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells should be examined for oncogenicity in immunodeficient mice. If CPEB-2 acted in a tumour-suppressing manner, we would expect a decrease in ability to form lung colonies, as well as decreased orthotopic tumourigenicity.

Lastly, our human breast cancer expression data indicated a significant decrease in CPEB2 isoform A/E expression in HER2+ tumours. Due to this population being limited to 15 human samples, future studies should examine this phenomenon in a larger group of samples, including COX-2 expression. Furthermore, through data mining in The Cancer Genome Atlas, for example, as previously done by our lab, we should examine isoform-selective expression in breast cancer subtypes including HER2.

#### 86

#### 4.6 Conclusions

In conclusion, CPEB2 knockout MCF10A cells exhibited oncogenic phenotypes *in vitro*: increased proliferation, migration, invasion, EMT phenotype (mesenchymal morphology, decreased E-Cadherin, increased Vimentin, N-cadherin, SNAI1, and ZEB1), increased COX-2/EP4 expression, increased lymphangiogenic factor VEGF-D expression and SLC properties (increased spheroid formation, expression SLC-linked molecule β-catenin and downstream gene expression). Knocking out CPEB-2 transformed the epithelial MCF10A cells into an oncogenic cell line capable of forming lung colonies after intravenous injection *in vivo*, as well as *in vivo* orthotopic tumours in the mammary region. This phenotype could be caused by CPEB-2 regulating the translation of the novel target p53, a powerful tumour-suppressing molecule.

### **REFERENCES**

Ajdukovic, J. (2016). HIF-1 - A big chapter in the cancer tale. Experimental Oncology,

38(1), 9–12. http://doi.org/8284 [pii]

- Al-Hajj, M., Wicha, M. S., Benito-Hernandez, A., Morrison, S. J., & Clarke, M. F. (2003). Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 100(7), 3983–8. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0530291100
- Alexander, N. R., Tran, N. L., Rekapally, H., Summers, C. E., Glackin, C., & Heimark, R. L. (2006). N-cadherin Gene Expression in Prostate Carcinoma Is Modulated by Integrin-Dependent Nuclear Translocation of Twist1. *Cancer Research*, 66(7), 3365 LP-3369. Retrieved from http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/66/7/3365.abstract
- Alitalo, K., & Carmeliet, P. (2002). Molecular mechanisms of lymphangiogenesis in health and disease. *Cancer Cell*, 1(3), 219–227. http://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1535-6108(02)00051-X
- Allegra, C. J., Aberle, D. R., Ganschow, P., Hahn, S. M., Lee, C. N., Millon-Underwood, S., ... Zon, R. (2010). National institutes of health state-of-the-science conference statement: Diagnosis and management of ductal carcinoma in situ september 22-24, 2009. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *102*(3), 161–169. http://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djp485
- Anderson, W. F., Chatterjee, N., Ershler, W. B., & Brawley, O. W. (2002). Estrogen Receptor Breast Cancer Phenotypes in the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Database. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 76(1), 27–36. http://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020299707510
- Arango, B. A., Rivera, C. L., & Glück, S. (2013). Gene expression profiling in breast cancer. *American Journal of Translational Research*, 5(2), 132–138. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3612510/
- Baldin, V., Lukas, J., Marcote, M. J., Pagano, M., & Draetta, G. (1993). Cyclin D 1 is a nuclear protein required for cell cycle progression in G1. *Genes and Development*, 7, 812–821.
- Basolo, F., Elliott, J., Tait, L., Chen, X. Q., Maloney, T., Russo, I. H., ... Russo, J. (1991). Transformation of Human Breast Epithelial Cells by c-Ha-ras Oncogene. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 4(1), 25–35. http://doi.org/10.1002/mc.2940040106
- Batlle, E., Sancho, E., Franci, C., Dominguez, D., Monfar, M., Baulida, J., & Garcia de Herreros, A. (2000). The transcription factor Snail is a repressor of E-cadherin gene expression in epithelial tumour cells. *Nat Cell Biol*, 2(2), 84–89. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/35000034
- Bessette, D. C., Tilch, E., Seidens, T., Quinn, M. C. J., Wiegmans, A. P., Shi, W., ... Chenevix-Trench, G. (2015). Using the MCF10A/MCF10CA1a breast cancer progression cell line model to investigate the effect of active, mutant forms of EGFR

in breast cancer development and treatment using gefitinib. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(5), 1–25. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0125232

- Bhattacharjee, R. N., Timoshenko, A. V, Cai, J., & Lala, P. K. (2010). Relationship between cyclooxygenase-2 and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 in vascular endothelial growth factor C up-regulation and lymphangiogenesis in human breast cancer. *Cancer Science*, 101(9), 2026–2032. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2010.01647.x
- Bieging, K. T., Mello, S. S., & Attardi, L. D. (2014). Unravelling mechanisms of p53mediated tumour suppression. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 14(5), 359–70. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3711
- Breyer, R. M., Bagdassarian, C. K., Myers, S. A., & Breyer, M. D. (2001). Prostanoid Receptors: Subtypes and Signaling. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 41(1), 661–690. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.41.1.661
- Burns, D. M., & Richter, J. D. (2008). CPEB regulation of human cellular senescence, energy metabolism, and p53 mRNA translation. *Genes and Development*, 22(24), 3449–3460. http://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1697808
- Calin, G. A., Sevignani, C., Dumitru, C. D., Hyslop, T., Noch, E., Yendamuri, S., ... Croce, C. M. (2004). Human microRNA genes are frequently located at fragile sites and genomic regions involved in cancers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(9), 2999–3004. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0307323101
- Canadian Cancer Society. (2016). Canadian Cancer Statistics Special topic: HPVassociated cancers. *Public Health Agency of Canada*.
- Cathcart, M.-C., Tamosiuniene, R., Chen, G., Neilan, T. G., Bradford, A., O'Byrne, K. J., ... Pidgeon, G. P. (2008). Cyclooxygenase-2-Linked Attenuation of Hypoxia-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension and Intravascular Thrombosis. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 326(1), 51 LP-58. Retrieved from http://jpet.aspetjournals.org/content/326/1/51.abstract
- Chassé, H., Boulben, S., Costache, V., Cormier, P., & Morales, J. (2016). Analysis of translation using polysome profiling. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 45(3), gkw907. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw907
- Chen, A., Beetham, H., Black, M. A., Priya, R., Telford, B. J., Guest, J., ... Guilford, P. J. (2014). E-cadherin loss alters cytoskeletal organization and adhesion in nonmalignant breast cells but is insufficient to induce an epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *BMC Cancer*, 14, 552. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-552
- Chen, P.-J., & Huang, Y.-S. (2012). CPEB2-eEF2 interaction impedes HIF-1α RNA translation. *The EMBO Journal*, *31*(4), 959–71. http://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.448

- Chen, P.-J., Weng, J.-Y., Hsu, P.-H., Shew, J.-Y., Huang, Y.-S., & Lee, W.-H. (2015). NPGPx modulates CPEB2-controlled HIF-1α RNA translation in response to oxidative stress. *Nucleic Acids Research*, gkv1010. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv1010
- Chen, Y., Tsai, Y.-H., & Tseng, S.-H. (2016). Regulation of the Expression of Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element Binding Proteins for the Treatment of Cancer. *Anticancer Research*, 36(11), 5673–5680. http://doi.org/10.21873/anticanres.11150
- Clevers, H. (2006). Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling in Development and Disease. *Cell*, 127(3), 469–480. http://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.10.018
- Croker, A. K., Goodale, D., Chu, J., Postenka, C., Hedley, B. D., Hess, D. A., & Allan, A. L. (2009). High aldehyde dehydrogenase and expression of cancer stem cell markers selects for breast cancer cells with enhanced malignant and metastatic ability. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 13(8b), 2236–2252. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00455.x
- D'Ambrogio, A., Nagaoka, K., & Richter, J. D. (2013). Translational control of cell growth and malignancy by the CPEBs. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, *13*(4), 283–90. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3485
- Dawson, P. J., Wolman, S. R., Tait, L., Heppner, G. H., & Miller, F. R. (1996). MCF10AT: a model for the evolution of cancer from proliferative breast disease. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 148(1), 313–319. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1861604/
- Dunn, L., & Lala, P. K. (2013). The role of microRNAs in Cyclooxygase-2 mediated breast cancer progression. *Masters Thesis*, 228–241. http://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2223-4683.2013.08.01
- Espinosa, E., Vara, J. Á. F., Navarro, I. S., Gámez-Pozo, A., Pinto, Á., Zamora, P., ... Feliu, J. (2011). Gene profiling in breast cancer: Time to move forward. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, 37(6), 416–421. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2010.12.009
- Fernández-Miranda, G., & Méndez, R. (2012). The CPEB-family of proteins, translational control in senescence and cancer. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 11(4), 460–72. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2012.03.004
- Fillmore, C. M., & Kuperwasser, C. (2008). Human breast cancer cell lines contain stemlike cells that self-renew, give rise to phenotypically diverse progeny and survive chemotherapy. *Breast Cancer Research : BCR*, 10(2), R25–R25. http://doi.org/10.1186/bcr1982
- FitzGerald, G. A., & Patrono, C. (2001). The Coxibs, Selective Inhibitors of Cyclooxygenase-2. New England Journal of Medicine, 345(6), 433–442. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200108093450607

- Freres, P., Wenric, S., Boukerroucha, M., Fasquelle, C., Thiry, J., Bovy, N., ... Jerusalem, G. (2016). Circulating microRNA-based screening tool for breast cancer. *Oncotarget*, 7(5), 5416–5428. http://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.6786
- Fujino, H., Xu, W., & Regan, J. W. (2003). Prostaglandin E2 induced functional expression of early growth response factor-1 by EP4, but not EP2, prostanoid receptors via the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and extracellular signal-regulated kinases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(14), 12151–12156. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M212665200
- Giangarrà, V., Igea, A., Castellazzi, C. L., Bava, F.-A., & Mendez, R. (2015). Global Analysis of CPEBs Reveals Sequential and Non-Redundant Functions in Mitotic Cell Cycle. *Plos One*, 10(9), e0138794. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138794
- Ginestier, C., Hur, M. H., Charafe-Jauffret, E., Monville, F., Dutcher, J., Brown, M., ... Dontu, G. (2007). ALDH1 is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome. *Cell Stem Cell*, *1*(5), 555–567. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2007.08.014
- Grudzien-Nogalska, E., Reed, B. C., & Rhoads, R. E. (2014). CPEB1 promotes differentiation and suppresses EMT in mammary epithelial cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, *127*(Pt 10), 2326–38. http://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.144956
- Hägele, S., Kühn, U., Böning, M., & Katschinski, D. M. (2009). Cytoplasmic polyadenylation-element-binding protein (CPEB)1 and 2 bind to the HIF-1alpha mRNA 3'-UTR and modulate HIF-1alpha protein expression. *The Biochemical Journal*, 417(1), 235–246. http://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20081353
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell, 100, 57-70.
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell*, *144*(5), 646–674. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Harris, R. E. (2003). *COX-2 Blockade in Cancer Prevention and Therapy* (1st Editio). Humana Press.
- Hazan, R. B., Phillips, G. R., Qiao, R. F., Norton, L., & Aaronson, S. A. (2000). Exogenous expression of N-cadherin in breast cancer cells induces cell migration, invasion, and metastasis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 148(4), 779–90. http://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.148.4.779
- Horimoto, Y., Arakawa, A., Sasahara, N., Tanabe, M., Sai, S., Himuro, T., & Saito, M. (2016). Combination of cancer stem cell markers CD44 and CD24 is superior to ALDH1 as a prognostic indicator in breast cancer patients with distant metastases. *PLoS ONE*, 11(10), 1–11. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165253
- Howe, L. R. (2007). Inflammation and breast cancer. Cyclooxygenase/prostaglandin signaling and breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research*, 9(4), 210.

http://doi.org/10.1186/bcr1678

- Huang, W., Li, H., & Luo, R. (2015). The microRNA-1246 promotes metastasis in nonsmall cell lung cancer by targeting cytoplasmic polyadenylation element-binding protein 4. *Diagnostic Pathology*, 10, 127. http://doi.org/10.1186/s13000-015-0366-1
- Hull, M. A., Ko, S. C. W., & Hawcroft, G. (2004). Prostaglandin EP receptors: Targets for treatment and prevention of colorectal cancer? *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 3(8), 1031 LP-1039. Retrieved from http://mct.aacrjournals.org/content/3/8/1031.abstract
- Hurst, D. R., Xie, Y., Edmonds, M. D., & Welch, D. R. (2009). Multiple forms of BRMS1 are differentially expressed in the MCF10 isogenic breast cancer progression model Douglas. *Clinical Experimental Metastasis*, 26(2), 89–96. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2011.02.012.Investigations
- Jang, G.-B., Kim, J.-Y., Cho, S.-D., Park, K.-S., Jung, J.-Y., Lee, H.-Y., ... Nam, J.-S. (2015). Blockade of Wnt/β-catenin signaling suppresses breast cancer metastasis by inhibiting CSC-like phenotype. *Scientific Reports*, *5*(November 2014), 12465. http://doi.org/10.1038/srep12465
- Johnson, R. M., Vu, N. T., Griffin, B. P., Gentry, A. E., Archer, K. J., Chalfant, C. E., & Park, M. A. (2015). The alternative splicing of cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 drives anoikis resistance and the metastasis of triple negative breast cancer. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, jbc.M115.671206. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.671206
- Jones, K. J., Korb, E., Kundel, M. A., Kochanek, A. R., Mcevoy, M., Shin, C. Y., & Wells, D. G. (2008). CPEB1 regulates β-Catenin mRNA Translation and Cell Migration in Astrocytes. *Glia*, 56(13), 1401–1413. http://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20707.CPEB1
- Justus, C. R., Leffler, N., Ruiz-Echevarria, M., & Yang, L. V. (2014). In vitro Cell Migration and Invasion Assays, (88), e51046. http://doi.org/doi:10.3791/51046
- Kalluri, R., & Weinberg, R. a. (2009). The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 119(6), 1420–1428. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI39104.1420
- Kim, N.-G., Koh, E., Chen, X., & Gumbiner, B. M. (2011). E-cadherin mediates contact inhibition of proliferation through Hippo signaling-pathway components. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(29), 11930–11935. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1103345108
- Kim, J. Il, Lakshmikanthan, V., Frilot, N., & Daaka, Y. (2010). Prostaglandin E2 Promotes Lung Cancer Cell Migration Via EP4-βArrestin1-c-Src Signalsome. *Molecular Cancer Research : MCR*, 8(4), 569–577. http://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-09-0511

- Kourtidis, A., Lu, R., Pence, L. J., & Anastasiadis, P. Z. (2017). A central role for cadherin signaling in cancer. *Experimental Cell Research*, (April), 0–1. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2017.04.006
- Kupai, K., Szucs, G., Cseh, S., Hajdu, I., Csonka, C., Csont, T., & Ferdinandy, P. (2010). Matrix metalloproteinase activity assays: Importance of zymography. *Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods*, 61(2), 205–209. http://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vascn.2010.02.011
- Kurihara, Y. (2003). CPEB2, A Novel Putative Translational Regulator in Mouse Haploid Germ Cells. *Biology of Reproduction*, 69(1), 261–268. http://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.103.015677
- Lai, Y.-T., Su, C.-K., Jiang, S.-T., Chang, Y.-J., Lai, A. C.-Y., & Huang, Y.-S. (2016). Deficiency of CPEB2-Confined ChAT Expression in the Dorsal Motor Nucleus of Vagus Causes Hyperactivated Parasympathetic Signaling-Associated Bronchoconstriction. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 557–16. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0557-16.2016
- Lala, P. K., Al-Mutter, N., & Orucevic, A. (1997). Effects of chronic indomethacin therapy on the development and progression of spontaneous mammary tumors in C3H/HEJ mice. *International Journal of Cancer*, 73(3), 371–380. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19971104)73:3<371::AID-IJC12>3.0.CO;2-G
- Lala, P. K., Parhar, R. S., & Singh, P. (1986). Indomethacin therapy abrogates the prostaglandin-mediated suppression of natural killer activity in tumor-bearing mice and prevents tumor metastasis. *Cellular Immunology*, 99(1), 108–118. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0008-8749(86)90220-0
- Lam, C. S.-C., Ng, L., Chow, A. K.-M., Wan, T. M.-H., Yau, S., Cheng, N. S.-M., ... Law, W.-L. (2017). Identification of microRNA 885-5p as a novel regulator of tumor metastasis in colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget*. Retrieved from http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L7 0691092%5Cnhttp://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/cgi/content/meeting\_abstract/71/8\_ MeetingAbstracts/3979?sid=a7cb7689-ef30-4d2e-b200f23f9449d192%5Cnhttp://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1538-7445
- Lapidot, T., Sirard, C., Vormoor, J., Murdoch, B., Hoang, T., Caceres-Cortes, J., ... Dick, J. E. (1994). A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. *Nature*, 367, 645–648. http://doi.org/10.1038/367532a0
- Li, C., Gao, Y., Li, Y., & Ding, D. (2017). TUG1 mediates methotrexate resistance in colorectal cancer via miR-186/CPEB2 axis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.03.042
- Li, J., & Zhou, B. P. (2011). Activation of β-catenin and Akt pathways by Twist are critical for the maintenance of EMT associated cancer stem cell-like characters.

BMC Cancer, 11(1), 49. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-11-49

- Liu, C.-Y., Lin, H.-H., Tang, M.-J., & Wang, Y.-K. (2015). Vimentin contributes to epithelial-mesenchymal transition cancer cell mechanics by mediating cytoskeletal organization and focal adhesion maturation. *Oncotarget*, 6(18), 15966–83. http://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.3862
- Lynch, H., & Lynch, J. (1996). Breast cancer genetics: family history, heterogeneity, molecular genetic diagnosis, and genetic counselling. *Curr Probl Cancer*, 20(6), 329–365.
- Macfarlane, L. A., & Murphy, P. R. (2010). MicroRNA: Biogenesis, Function and Role in Cancer. *Current Genomics*, 11(7), 537–561. http://doi.org/10.2174/138920210793175895; 10.2174/138920210793175895
- Maestro, R., Tos, A. P. D., Hamamori, Y., Krasnokutsky, S., Sartorelli, V., Kedes, L., ... Hannon, G. J. (1999). twist is a potential oncogene that inhibits apoptosis. *Genes & Development*, 13(17), 2207–2217. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC317004/
- Majumder, M., Landman, E., Liu, L., Hess, D., & Lala, P. K. (2015). COX-2 Elevates Oncogenic miR-526b in Breast Cancer by EP4 Activation. *Molecular Cancer Research*, *13*(June). http://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-14-0543
- Majumder, M., Xin, X., Liu, L., Girish, G. V, & Lala, P. K. (2014). Prostaglandin E2 receptor EP4 as the common target on cancer cells and macrophages to abolish angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis, metastasis, and stem-like cell functions. *Cancer Science*, 105(9), 1142–51. http://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12475
- Majumder, M., Xin, X., Lui, L., Tutunea-Fatan, E., Rodriguez-Torres, M., Vincent, K., ... Lala, P. K. (2016). COX-2 Induces Breast Cancer Stem Cells via EP4/PI3K/AKT/NOTCH/WNT Axis. *Stem Cells*, (20). http://doi.org/10.1063/1.1372209
- Mathivanan, S., Ji, H., & Simpson, R. J. (2010). Exosomes: Extracellular organelles important in intercellular communication. *Journal of Proteomics*, 73(10), 1907– 1920. http://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2010.06.006
- Miest, T. S., & Cattaneo, R. (2014). New viruses for cancer therapy: meeting clinical needs. *Nature Reviews. Microbiology*, 12(1), 23–34. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3140
- Modrek, B., & Lee, C. (2002). A genomic view of alternative splicing. *Nature Genetics*, 30(1), 13–19. http://doi.org/10.1038/ng0102-13
- Nagaoka, K., Fujii, K., Zhang, H., Usuda, K., Watanabe, G., Ivshina, M., & Richter, J. D. (2015). CPEB1 mediates epithelial-to-mesenchyme transition and breast cancer metastasis. *Oncogene*, 35(August), 1–9. http://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2015.350
- Nairismägi, M.-L., Vislovukh, A., Meng, Q., Kratassiouk, G., Beldiman, C., Petretich, M., ... Groisman, I. (2012). Translational control of TWIST1 expression in MCF-10A cell lines recapitulating breast cancer progression. *Oncogene*, 31(47), 4960– 4966. http://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.650
- Nandi, P., Girish, G. V, Majumder, M., Xin, X., Tutunea-Fatan, E., & Lala, P. K. (2017). PGE2 promotes breast cancer-associated lymphangiogenesis by activation of EP4 receptor on lymphatic endothelial cells. *BMC Cancer*, 17, 11. http://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-3018-2
- National Cancer Institute. (2015). Defining Cancer.
- Nieman, M. T., Prudoff, R. S., Johnson, K. R., & Wheelock, M. J. (1999). N-Cadherin Promotes Motility in Human Breast Cancer Cells Regardless of Their E-Cadherin Expression. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 147(3), 631 LP-644. Retrieved from http://jcb.rupress.org/content/147/3/631.abstract
- Oliveras-Ferraros, C., Corominas-Faja, B., Vazquez-Martin, S. A., Martin-Castillo, B., Iglesias, J. M., López-Bonet, E., ... Menendez, J. A. (2012). Epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT) confers primary resistance to trastuzumab (Herceptin). *Cell Cycle*, 11(21), 4020–4032. http://doi.org/10.4161/cc.22225
- Ortiz-Zapater, E., Pineda, D., Martinez-Bosch, N., Fernandez-Miranda, G., Iglesias, M., Alameda, F., ... Navarro, P. (2012). Key contribution of CPEB4-mediated translational control to cancer progression. *Nat Med*, 18(1), 83–90. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nm.2540
- Paik, S. (2011). Is gene array testing to be considered routine now? *Breast*, *20*(SUPPL. 3), S87–S91. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9776(11)70301-0
- Paris, J., & Richter, J. D. (1990). Maturation-specific polyadenylation and translational control: diversity of cytoplasmic polyadenylation elements, influence of poly(A) tail size, and formation of stable polyadenylation complexes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 10(11), 5634–45. http://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.10.11.5634.Updated
- Patani, N., Martin, L.-A., & Dowsett, M. (2013). Biomarkers for the clinical management of breast cancer: international perspective. *International Journal of Cancer. Journal International Du Cancer*, 133(1), 1–13. http://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.27997
- Paul, S., & Dey, A. (2008). Wnt signaling and cancer development: Therapeutic implication. *Neoplasma*, 55(3), 165–176. Retrieved from http://www.elis.sk/download\_file.php?product\_id=1087&session\_id=bkops3m5ue4j 542798tjsub9p0%5Cnhttp://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference &D=emed12&NEWS=N&AN=2009432471
- Peng, W., Nan, Z., Liu, Y., Shen, H., Lin, C., Lin, L., & Yuan, B. (2014). Dendritic cells transduced with CPEB4 induced antitumor immune response. *Experimental and Molecular Pathology*, 97(2), 273–278. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexmp.2014.06.001

- Piqué, M., López, J. M., Foissac, S., Guigó, R., & Méndez, R. (2008). A Combinatorial Code for CPE-Mediated Translational Control. *Cell*, 132(3), 434–448. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.12.038
- Polakis, P. (2000). Wnt signaling and cancer. *Genes and Development*, (650), 1837–1851. http://doi.org/10.1101/gad.14.15.1837
- Ponz de Leon, M. (1996). Genetic basis of tumour development. *Ital J Gastroenterol*, 28(4), 232–245.
- Prat, A., & Perou, C. M. (2011). Deconstructing the molecular portraits of breast cancer. *Molecular Oncology*, 5(1), 5–23. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2010.11.003
- Qu, Y., Han, B., Yu, Y., Yao, W., Bose, S., Karlan, B. Y., ... Cui, X. (2015). Evaluation of MCF10A as a Reliable Model for Normal Human Mammary Epithelial Cells. *Plos One*, 10(7), e0131285. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0131285
- Ran, F. A., Hsu, P. D., Lin, C. Y., Gootenberg, J. S., Konermann, S., Trevino, A. E., ... Zhang, F. (2013). Double nicking by RNA-guided CRISPR cas9 for enhanced genome editing specificity. *Cell*, 154(6), 1380–1389. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.08.021
- Reya, T., Morrison, S. J., Clarke, M. F., & Weissman, I. L. (2001). Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. *Nature*, 414(November), 105–111.
- Ristimäki, A., Sivula, A., Lundin, J., Lundin, M., Salminen, T., Haglund, C., ... Isola, J. (2002). Prognostic Significance of Elevated Cyclooxygenase-2 Expression in Breast Cancer. *Cancer Research*, 62(3), 632 LP-635. Retrieved from http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/62/3/632.abstract
- Rivenbark, A. G., O'Connor, S. M., & Coleman, W. B. (2013). Molecular and cellular heterogeneity in breast cancer: Challenges for personalized medicine. *American Journal of Pathology*, 183(4), 1113–1124. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.08.002
- Rozic, J. G., Chakraborty, C., & Lala, P. K. (2001). Cyclooxygenase inhibitors retard murine mammary tumor progression by reducing tumor cell migration, invasiveness and angiogenesis. *International Journal of Cancer*, 93(4), 497–506. http://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.1376
- Sassen, S., Miska, E. A., & Caldas, C. (2008). MicroRNA—implications for cancer. *Virchows Archiv*, 452(1), 1–10. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00428-007-0532-2
- Shaw, F. L., Harrison, H., Spence, K., Ablett, M. P., Simões, B. M., Farnie, G., & Clarke, R. B. (2012). A Detailed Mammosphere Assay Protocol for the Quantification of Breast Stem Cell Activity. *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*, 17(2), 111–117. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-012-9255-3

- Simmons, D. L., Botting, R. M., & Hla, T. (2004). Cyclooxygenase Isozymes: The Biology of Prostaglandin Synthesis and Inhibition. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 56(3), 387 LP-437. Retrieved from http://pharmrev.aspetjournals.org/content/56/3/387.abstract
- Singh-Ranger, G., Salhab, M., & Mokbel, K. (2008). The role of cyclooxygenase-2 in breast cancer: Review. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 109(2), 189–198. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-007-9641-5
- Skubal, M., Gielen, G. H., Waha, A., Gessi, M., Kaczmarczyk, L., Seifert, G., ... Waha, A. (2016). Altered splicing leads to reduced activation of CPEB3 in high-grade gliomas. *Oncotarget*, 7(27). http://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.9735
- Slamon, D. J., Clark, G. M., Wong, S. G., Levin, W. J., Ullrich, A., & McGuire, W. L. (1987). Human Breast Cancer: Correlation of Relapse and Survival with Amplification of the HER-2/neu Oncogene. *Science*, 235, 177–182.
- Smit, M. a, & Peeper, D. S. (2010). Epithelial mesenchymal transition and senescence : two cancer - related processes are crossing paths. *Perspective*, 2(10), 735–741. http://doi.org/100209 [pii]
- Sorlie, T., Perou, C. M., Tibshirani, R., Aas, T., Geisler, S., Johnsen, H., ... Borresen-Dale, A.-L. (2001). Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 98(19), 10869–10874.
- Soule, H. D., Maloney, T. M., Wolman, S. R., Peterson, W. D., Brenz, R., Mcgrath, C. M., ... Brooks, S. C. (1990). Isolation and Characterization of a Spontaneously Immortalized Isolation and Characterization of a Spontaneously Immortalized Human Breast. *Cancer*, 6075–6086.
- Steeg, P. (1992). Suppressor genes in breast cancer: an overview. *Cancer Treat Res*, 60, 45–57.
- Subik, K., Lee, J. F., Baxter, L., Strzepek, T., Costello, D., Crowley, P., ... Tang, P. (2010). The expression patterns of ER, PR, HER2, CK5/6, EGFR, KI-67 and AR by immunohistochemical analysis in breast cancer cell lines. *Breast Cancer: Basic and Clinical Research*, 4(1), 35–41. http://doi.org/10.4137/BCBCR.S0
- Sun, H.-T., Wen, X., Han, T., Liu, Z.-H., Li, S.-B., Wang, J.-G., & Liu, X.-P. (2015). Expression of CPEB4 in invasive ductal breast carcinoma and its prognostic significance. *OncoTargets and Therapy*, *8*, 3499–3506. http://doi.org/10.2147/OTT.S87587
- Sung, Y. M., Xu, X., Sun, J., Mueller, D., Sentissi, K., Johnson, P., ... Mueller, S. C. (2009). Tumor suppressor function of Syk in human MCF10A in vitro and normal mouse mammary epithelium in vivo. *PLoS ONE*, 4(10). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007445

- Tian, Q., Liang, L., Ding, J., Zha, R., Shi, H., Wang, Q., ... He, X. (2012). MicroRNA-550a Acts as a Pro-Metastatic Gene and Directly Targets Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element-Binding Protein 4 in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *PLoS ONE*, 7(11), 1–9. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048958
- Timoshenko, A., Chakraborty, C., Wagner, G., & Lala, P. (2006). COX-2-mediated stimulation of the lymphangiogenic factor VEGF-C in human breast cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, *94*(8), 1154–1163. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603067
- Timoshenko, A., Xu, G., Chakrabarti, S., Lala, P. K., & Chakraborty, C. (2003). Role of prostaglandin E2 receptors in migration of murine and human breast cancer cells. *Experimental Cell Research*, 289(2), 265–274. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-4827(03)00269-6
- Tomasz, M. (1995). Mitomycin C: small, fast and deadly (but very selective). *Chemistry and Biology*, *2*(9), 575–579. http://doi.org/10.1016/1074-5521(95)90120-5
- Turaga, K., Acs, G., & Laronga, C. (2010). Gene expression profiling in breast cancer. *Cancer Control : Journal of the Moffitt Cancer Center*, 17(3), 177–182. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-4741.2010.01049.x
- Turimella, S. L., Bedner, P., Skubal, M., Vangoor, V. R., Kaczmarczyk, L., Karl, K., ... Theis, M. (2015). Characterization of cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding 2 protein expression and its RNA binding activity. *Hippocampus*, 642(December 2014), n/a-n/a. http://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22399
- Villanueva, E., Navarro, P., Rovira-Rigau, M., Sibilio, A., Méndez, R., & Fillat, C. (2017). Translational reprogramming in tumour cells can generate oncoselectivity in viral therapies. *Nature Communications*, 8, 14833. http://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14833
- Wakiyama, M., Imataka, H., & Sonenberg, N. (2000). Interaction of eIF4G with poly(A)binding protein stimulates translation and is critical for Xenopus oocyte maturation. *Current Biology*, 10(18), 1147–1150. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00701-6
- Wang, Q., Zhang, W., & Hao, S. (2017). LncRNA CCAT1 modulates the sensitivity of paclitaxel in nasopharynx cancers cells via miR-181a/CPEB2 axis. *Cell Cycle*, 0(0), 1–7. http://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2017.1301334
- Weigelt, B., Horlings, H., Kreike, B., Hayes, M., Hauptmann, M., Wessels, L., ... Peterse, J. (2010). Refinement of breast cancer classification by molecular characterization of histological special types. *The Journal of Pathology*, 220(September), 114–125. http://doi.org/10.1002/path
- Wheelock, M. J., Shintani, Y., Maeda, M., Fukumoto, Y., & Johnson, K. R. (2008). Cadherin switching. *Journal of Cell Science*, 121(Pt 6), 727–735. http://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.000455

- Williams, C. S., Mann, M., & DuBois, R. N. (1999). The role of cyclooxygenases in inflammation, cancer, and development. *Oncogene*, 18(55), 7908–16. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1203286
- Xin, X., Majumder, M., Girish, G. V, Mohindra, V., Maruyama, T., & Lala, P. K. (2012). Targeting COX-2 and EP4 to control tumor growth, angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis and metastasis to the lungs and lymph nodes in a breast cancer model. *Laboratory Investigation*, 92(8), 1115–1128. http://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.2012.90
- Xu, H., & Liu, B. (2013). CPEB4 is a candidate biomarker for defining metastatic cancers and directing personalized therapies. *Medical Hypotheses*, *81*(5), 875–877. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2013.08.030
- Xu, S., Zhang, Z., Ogawa, O., Yoshikawa, T., Sakamoto, H., Shibasaki, N., ... Terada, N. (2014). An EP4 Antagonist ONO-AE3-208 Suppresses Cell Invasion, Migration, and Metastasis of Prostate Cancer. *Cell Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 70(1), 521– 527. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12013-014-9951-2
- Ye, J., Coulouris, G., Zaretskaya, I., Cutcutache, I., Rozen, S., & Madden, T. L. (2012). Primer-BLAST: A tool to design target-specific primers for polymerase chain reaction. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 13, 134. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-13-134
- Zarghi, A., & Arfaei, S. (2011). Selective COX-2 Inhibitors: A Review of Their Structure-Activity Relationships. *Iranian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research : IJPR*, 10(4), 655–683. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3813081/
- Zhang, Y., Xie, S., Xu, H., & Qu, L. (2015). CLIP: viewing the RNA world from an RNA-protein interactome perspective. *Science China Life Sciences*, 58(1), 75–88. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11427-014-4764-5
- Zhong, X., Xiao, Y., Chen, C., Wei, X., Hu, C., Ling, X., & Liu, X. (2015). MicroRNA-203-mediated posttranscriptional deregulation of CPEB4 contributes to colorectal cancer progression. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 466(2), 206–213. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.09.008
- Zhou, P., Li, B., Liu, F., Zhang, M., Wang, Q., Liu, Y., ... Li, D. (2017). The epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and cancer stem cells: implication for treatment resistance in pancreatic cancer. *Molecular Cancer*, 16, 52. http://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-017-0624-9
- Zou, C., Zhao, W., Wang, X., Li, Q., & Huang, H. (2016). MicroRNA-107: a novel promoter of tumor progression that targets the CPEB3/EGFR axis in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Oncotarget*, 7(1). http://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.5689

**APPENDICES** 

Table 1: Primer sequences and Taqman Probes used in qRT-PCR analysis of
mRNA expression.

Gene	Taqman Probe Cat#	Forward Primer (5'-3')	Reverse Primer (5'-3')
CPEB2		ACACTCTTACCCTTACAGGT	CGCCCATAACTCCTTGCATT
CPEB2A/E	Hs01039669_m1		
CPEB2B/D	Hs00699300_m1		

E-CADHERIN			
(CDH1)	Hs01023895_m1		
VIMENTIN	Hs00185584_m1		
SNAI1	Hs00195591_m1		
ZEB1	Hs00232783_m1		
TWIST1	Hs01675818_s1		
GAPDH	Hs99999905_m1	GAGAGAAACCCGGGAGGCTA	CAAATGAGCCCCAGCCTTCT
CCND1	Hs00765553_m1		
AXIN1	Hs00959587_m1		
AXIN2	Hs00610344_m1		
Мус	Hs00153408_m1		
VEGFB		CACCAAGTCCGGATGCAGAT	GGAGTGGGATGGGTGATGTC
VEGFC		GCCACGGGAGGTGTGTATAG	TATTGCAGCAACCCCCACAT
VEGFD		ATCGGTCCACTAGGTTTGCG	GCTGCACTGAGTTCTTTGCC
PTGS2 (COX-2)	Hs01573472_g1		
PTGER-4 (EP4)	Hs00168761_m1		

\*For probes with catalog numbers, the sequences are proprietary and therefore could not be disclosed to us. Other sequences were designed by us and used with the SYBR Green PCR method.

## Table 2: NCBI Primer-BLAST search for primers used in Johnson et al., 2015.

Sequences	Result

	> <u>NM_001177384.1</u> He	_001177384.1 Homo sapiens cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 (CPEB2), transcript variant F, mRNA			
CPEB2	product length = 1	117			
Isoform A	Forward primer 1 Template 19	900	GTGTTCAGAACAGACAACAATAG	23 1922	<b>CPEB2</b> Isoform F
For: 5'- GTGT	Reverse primer 1 Template 20	016	AATATCGATAAGGGAATTTTCC	22 1995	
TCAGAACAG ACAACAATA G-3' Rev: 5'-AATA TCGATAAGG	> <u>NM_001177383.1</u> He	omo	sapiens cytoplasmic polyaden	ylation ele	ement binding protein 2 (CPEB2), transcript variant E, mRNA
	product length = 1Forward primer 1Template15Reverse primer 1Template24	108 900 007	GTGTTCAGAACAGACAACAATAG	23 1922 22 1986	CPEB2 Isoform E
GAATTTTCC- 3'	> <u>NM_001177382.1</u> Homo sapiens cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 (CPEB2), transcript variant D, mRNA				
	product length = 1 Forward primer 1 Template 19	198 900	GTGTTCAGAACAGACAACAATAG	23 1922	CPEB2 Isoform D
	Reverse primer 1 Template 20 >NM 001177381.1 He	097 omo :	AATATCGATAAGGGAATTTTCC	22 2076 vlation ele	ament binding protein 2 (CPEB2), transcript variant C, mRNA
	Forward primer 1 Template 19	900	GTGTTCAGAACAGACAACAATAG	23 1922	CPER2 Isoform C
	Reverse primer 1 Template 20	016	AATATCGATAAGGGAATTTTCC	22 1995	
	> <u>NM_182646.2</u> Homo	sap	iens cytoplasmic polyadenylati	on eleme	nt binding protein 2 (CPEB2), transcript variant A, mRNA
	product length = 1 Forward primer 1 Template 19	108 900	GTGTTCAGAACAGACAACAATAG	23 1922	CPEB2 Isoform A
	Reverse primer 1 Template 20	007	AATATCGATAAGGGAATTTTCC	22 1986	
	> <u>NM_182485.2</u> Homo	sap	iens cytoplasmic polyadenylati	on eleme	nt binding protein 2 (CPEB2), transcript variant B, mRNA
	product length = 1 Forward primer 1 Template 19	198 900	GTGTTCAGAACAGACAACAATAG	23 1922	<b>CPEB2</b> Isoform B
	Reverse primer 1 Template 20	097	AATATCGATAAGGGAATTTTCC	22 2076	-
	> <u>NM_001177382.1</u> Ho	omo	sapiens cytoplasmic polyadeny	lation ele	ment binding protein 2 (CPEB2), transcript variant D, mRNA
CPEB2 Isoform B	product length = 1 Forward primer 1 Template 20	L01 035	CCTGGTCTATTCTGGATGTTCC	22 2014	<b>CPEB2</b> Isoform D
For: 5'- CCTG GTCTATTCTG GATGTTCC-3'	Reverse primer 1 Template 19	935	ACCCTTACAGGTGAGATCTAGT	22 1956	
	> <u>NM_182485.2</u> Homo sapiens cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 (CPEB2), transcript variant B, mRNA				
	product length = 1 Forward primer 1 Template 20	L01 035	CCTGGTCTATTCTGGATGTTCC	22 2014	CPFR2 Isoform R
TTACAGGTG AGATCTAGT-	Reverse primer 1 Template 19	935	ACCCTTACAGGTGAGATCTAGT	22 1956	
5					

NCBI Primer-BLAST provided by (Ye et al., 2012).

## Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Joshua Tordjman			
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	Bachelor of Medical Science (Hons.) The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2011-2015			
	Master of Science Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2015-2017			
Honours and Awards:	Western Graduate Research Scholarship (WGRS) 2015-2017			
	Dean's Honour List 2011-2012, 2012-2013, 2013-2014, 2014-2015			
Related Work Experience	Teaching Assistant (Medical Science 3900, 2 semesters) The University of Western Ontario 2016-2017			
	Teaching Assistant (Medical Science 4200G, 1 semester) The University of Western Ontario 2016			

## **Publications**

- Dr. Helen Senderovich, Mary Lou Ip, Lynda Dunal, Helen Kuttner, Anna Berall, Jurgis Karuza, Michael Gordon, Joshua Tordjman, and Daphna Grossman."Therapeutic Touch in a Geriatric Palliative Care Unit: A Retrospective Review". Canadian Virtual Hospice. Nov 4, 2014
- Dr. Helen Senderovich, Mary Lou Ip, Lynda Dunal, Helen Kuttner, Anna Berall, Jurgis Karuza, Michael Gordon, Joshua Tordjman, and Daphna Grossman. "Therapeutic Touch in a Geriatric Palliative Care Unit: A Retrospective Review." F1000 Research. Sept 14, 2015
- Joshua Tordjman, Asma Hasan, Mehdi Amiri, Mousumi Majumder, and Peeyush Lala. "The role of cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 (CPEB2) in breast cancer". Anatomy and Cell Biology Research Day. London, ON, Canada. Oct 23, 2015
- Joshua Tordjman, Asma Hasan, Mehdi Amiri, Mousumi Majumder, and Peeyush Lala. "The role of cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 (CPEB2) in breast cancer". 16<sup>th</sup> Annual McGill Biomedical Graduate Conference. Montreal, QC, Canada. Mar 17, 2016
- Dr. Helen Senderovich and **Joshua Tordjman**. "How to cope when a loved one has dementia and still drives". Toronto Star. Mar 28, 2016
- Joshua Tordjman, Asma Hasan, Mehdi Amiri, Mousumi Majumder, and Peeyush Lala. "The role of cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 (CPEB2) in breast cancer". London Health Research Day. London, ON, Canada. Mar 29, 2016
- Joshua Tordjman, Asma Hasan, Mehdi Amiri, Mousumi Majumder, and Peeyush Lala. "The role of cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 (CPEB2) in breast cancer". Oncology Research and Education Day. London, ON, Canada. Jun 17, 2016
- Joshua Tordjman, Asma Hasan, Mehdi Amiri, Mousumi Majumder, and Peeyush Lala. "Cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 (CPEB2) is a tumour suppressor in breast cancer". Anatomy and Cell Biology Research Day. London, ON, Canada. Oct 21, 2016
- Joshua Tordjman, Asma Hasan, Mehdi Amiri, Mousumi Majumder, and Peeyush Lala. "Cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 (CPEB2) is a tumour suppressor in breast cancer". London Health Research Day. London, ON, Canada. Mar 28, 2017
- Joshua Tordjman, Asma Hasan, Mehdi Amiri, Mousumi Majumder, and Peeyush Lala. "Cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein 2 (CPEB2) is a tumour suppressor in breast cancer". Oncology Research and Education Day. London, ON, Canada. June 16, 2017